Contributing factors to chronic malnutrition (stunting) in children under the age of five in Yemen

Amal Abdullah Atef Yemen

14th master's degree in international health (MIH) 11 September 2017 – 7 September 2018

KIT (ROYAL TROPICAL INSTITUTE) KIT Health/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam

Contributing factors to chronic malnutrition (stunting) in children under the age of five in Yemen.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of International health

Ву

Amal Abdullah Atef

Yemen

Declaration:

Where the work of others has been used (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements.

1) The thesis "Contributing factors to chronic malnutrition (stunting) in children under the age of five in Yemen" is my own work.

Amo

Signature:

14th master's degree in international health (MIH).

September 11, 2017 - September 7, 2018.

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

August 2018

Organized by:

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute), Development Policy & Practice Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

In co-operation with:

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam/Free University of Amsterdam (VU)

Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	v
List of Tables	vi
Abbreviations	vii
Glossary	ix
Dedication	xi
Acknowledgments	xii
Abstract	xiii
Introduction	xiv
Chapter one: Country background	1
Geography and Climate	1
Population Characteristics	1
Political Situation	1
Socio-Economic Conditions	2
Religion and language	2
Education	2
Economy	3
Health System	3
The Health System in Yemen	3
Current Health in Yemen	4
Chapter two: General introduction about childhood malnutrition	6
General background and types of childhood malnutrition	6
Global perspective and trends on stunting	6
Consequences of stunting	8
Under five malnutrition situations in Yemen:	9
Stunting situation in Yemen	11
Chapter three: Problem statement, objective and methodology	12
Problem statement	12
Main goal	13
Specific objectives	13
Methodology	
Key words	13
Conceptual framework	13
Limitation	15
Significance of the study	15

Chapter Four: Findings	15
Causes	15
Household and family factors	15
Maternal factors	15
Home environment	17
Inadequate complementary feeding	19
Breast feeding	21
Infection	21
Contextual factors	22
Political and economy	23
Education	23
Society and culture	24
Agriculture and food system	25
Health and health care system	26
Water, sanitation and environment	27
Chapter five: Interventions to address stunting in Yemen	28
Developing national stunting targets	28
Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) movement in Yemen and the Nutrition Cluster	29
Nutrition programs in Yemen	30
Community-based Management of Acute Malnutrition (CMAM) program	30
Improving the nutrition status of mothers	32
Improving the micronutrient status of the under five children and pregnant and lactating women	32
Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) program in Yemen	32
IMCI, Improving children under-five's health status	33
Other sectors intervention (wash and food security)	33
Discussion	35
Conclusion & Recommendations	38
Conclusion	38
Recommendation	39
References	40
Annexes	54

List of Figures

Figure 1: BCG National immunization coverage source WHO & UNICEF	12
Figure 2: Countries of highest Stunting prevalence, Source UNICEF (1)	14
Figure 3 :Source (UNICEF, WHO, World Bank Joint Child Malnutrition dataset, May 2018)(38)	14
Figure 4 : GAM classification rate in Yemen 2018 (55)	16
Figure 5: Trends of malnutrition under five children in Hodeida governorate Yemen (51)	17
Figure 6: Prevalence of under five-stunting in the last decade ,Yemen (4,16,32,53,59)	18
Figure 7: WHO conceptual framework on Childhood Stunting: Context, Causes, and Consequences	S
(66)	22
Figure 9: Trends and Target in the U5 stunted children (62)(Source EU Yemen)	37
Figure 10: SUN Movement progress in Yemen 2017.Source(SUN YEMEN)	38
Figure 11: progress of CMAM program in Yemen source(UNICEF-Yemen)	40

List of Tables

Table 1: The CMAM program in Yemen with achieved target in 2017	39
Table 2: Summary of most significant nutrition intervention In Yemen. Source (Nutrition cluster)	41
Table 3: Wash intervention in Yemen by wash cluster partners (source Yemen Wash cluster)	42

Abbreviations

ANC	Antenatal Care
ARI	Acute Respiratory Infections
BMI	Body Mass Index
СМАМ	Community Based Nutrition
CF	Complementary feeding
CFSS	Comprehensive Food Security Survey
DALYs	Disability-Adjusted Life Years
EBF	Exclusive Breastfeeding
EFSNA FAQ	Emergency Food Security and Nutrition Assessment
	Food and Agricultural Organization
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GMP	Growth Monitoring and Promotion
HDI	Human Development Index
HFA	Weight-For-Height
HAZ	Height-for-age z-scores
HFI	Household Food Insecurity
нн	Household
IMCI	Integrated management of childhood illness
IUGR	Intra-Uterine Growth Retardation
IYCF	Infant and Young Child Feeding practice
MAM	Moderate Acute Malnutrition
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
MMR	Maternal Mortality Ratio
MNH	Maternal and New-born Health
ΜΟΡΙϹ	Ministry of Planning and International Cooperation
МОН	Ministry Of Health
MUAC	Middle Upper Arm Circumference

NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NNS	National Nutrition Strategy
ORS	Oral Rehydration Solution/Salts
ОТР	Outpatient Therapeutic Program
РНС	Primary Health Care
PLW	Pregnant and Lactating Women
SAM	Severe Acute Malnutrition
SD	Standard Deviation
SDG	Sustainable Developments Goal
SWF	Social Welfare Fund
SMART	Standardized Monitoring and Assessment for Relief and Transition
SUN	Scaling Up Nutrition
SFP	Supplementary feeding program
THE	Total Health Expenditure
TFC	Therapeutic Feeding Centres
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Emergency Fund
USI	Universal Salt Iodization
U5	Under five
VAD	Vitamin A deficiency
WFA	Weight-For-Age
WFP	World food program
WFH	Weight-For-Height
YNDHS	Yemen Nutrition Demography and Health Survey

Glossary

Breast milk substitute: any food being marketed or otherwise represented as a partial or total replacement for breast milk, whether or not it is suitable for that purpose (1).

Bottle feeding: Proportion of children 0–23 months of age who are fed with a bottle (2).

Complementary feeding: the process starting when breast milk alone or infant formula alone is no longer sufficient to meet the nutritional requirements of an infant, and therefore other foods and liquids are needed along with breast milk or a breast milk substitution. The target range for complementary feeding is generally considered to be 6–23 months (1).

Exclusive Breastfeeding (EBF): The feeding of an infant only with breast milk from his/her mother or a wet nurse, or expressed breast milk, and no other liquids or solids except vitamins, mineral supplements, or medicines in drop or syrup form (2).

Global Acute Malnutrition (GAM) is the presence of both MAM and SAM in a population. A GAM value of more than 10 percent indicates an emergency. High prevalence rates outside of the seasonal norm are cause for concern. Commonly used thresholds for GAM are: <5% acceptable ;5% to 9.9% poor; 10% to 14.9% serious; >15% critical (3).

Low birth weight: An infant weighing less than 2,500 grams at birth (1).

Malnutrition: A broad term commonly used as an alternative to under nutrition, but technically it also refers to over nutrition. People are malnourished if their diet does not provide adequate nutrients for growth and maintenance or they are unable to fully utilize the food they eat due to illness (undernutrition). They are also malnourished if they consume too many calories (overnutrition) (1).

Micronutrients: Essential vitamins and minerals required by the body throughout the lifecycle in miniscule amounts (1).

Micronutrient deficiency: occurs when the body does not have sufficient amounts of a vitamin or mineral due to insufficient dietary intake and/or insufficient absorption and/or suboptimal utilization of the vitamin or mineral (1).

Mid-Upper Arm Circumference (MUAC): The circumference of the upper arm measured at the midpoint between the tip of the acromion process (at the shoulder) and the tip of the olecranon process (at the elbow) (3).

Minimum dietary diversity: Proportion of children 6–23 months of age who receive foods from 4 or more food groups (2).

Moderate Acute Malnutrition (MAM): is defined as weight for height between minus two and minus three standard deviations from the median weight for height of the standard reference population (1).

Overweight: is defined as weight for height above two standard deviations from the median weight for height of the standard reference population (1).

Stunting: defined as height for age below minus two standard deviations from the median height for age of the standard reference population (1).

Severe Acute Malnutrition (SAM): defined as weight for height below minus three standard deviations from the median weight for height of the standard reference population, mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) less than 115 mm, visible severe thinness, or the presence of nutritional oedema (1).

SUN (scaling up nutrition) movement is a unique movement founded on the principle that all people have a right to food and good nutrition. It unites people from governments, civil society, the United Nations, donors, businesses and researchers in a collective effort to improve nutrition.

Undernutrition: is the outcome of insufficient food intake, inadequate care and infectious diseases. It includes being underweight for one's age, too short for one's age (stunting), dangerously thin for one's height (wasting) and deficient in vitamins and minerals (micronutrient deficiencies) (1).

Underweight: is a composite form of under nutrition that includes elements of stunting and wasting and is defined as weight for age below minus two standard deviations from the median weight for age of the standard reference population (1).

Wasting: is defined as weight for height below minus two standard deviations from the median weight for height of the standard reference population. A child can be moderately wasted (between minus two and minus three standard deviations from the median weight for height) or severely wasted (below minus three standard deviations from the median weight for height) (1).

Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF): refers to specific recommendations and guiding principles for optimal nutrition, health, and development of children. A set of eight population-level IYCF indicators have been developed to: (i) assess IYCF trends over time; (ii) improve targeting of interventions; and (iii) monitor progress in achieving goals and evaluate the impact of interventions (2).

International Code on Marketing of Breast milk Substitutes (BMS): is a set of recommendations to regulate the marketing of breast milk substitutes, feeding bottles, and teats. This code aims to contribute "to the provision of safe and adequate nutrition for infants, by the protection and promotion of breastfeeding, and by ensuring the proper use of breast milk substitutes, when these are necessary, based on adequate information and through appropriate marketing and distribution" (4).

Food security: Food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical and economic access to sufficient safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life (5).

Dedication

To my dear parents Mr.Abdullah Atef and Mrs.Lutfiah Shrahan and my son Yunis; as well as to my husband for supporting me through my master's degree.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my family for their great support and encouragement during my studies at KIT. Without their support, I would not have been able to complete my much-desired degree. I especially thank my husband, Mr.Ahmed Alshameri, for his support and for making *my* master his top priority during this year. I would like also to thank my little boy Yunis Alshameri for his patience, as I was less present as a mother during my studies. I also thank my mother and my father deeply for their prayer and support throughout my life. Furthermore, I would like to thank my sisters and brothers for their support during my master's path.

I would also like to recognize the KIT fund that provided me with a partial scholarship to study in the Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), Amsterdam. My deep appreciation also goes to the program director, coordinators, administration officers and all other KIT staff as well as my colleagues for their support.

I would also like to take the opportunity to thank my thesis advisor and back stopper for their highly appreciated support and guidance despite their busy schedule. Their encouragement truly pushed me to do the best I can.

Finally, my gratitude goes to the International Health course coordinators Dr.Maaike Flinkenflögel and Dr.Fernando Maldonado for their work to make the master's in international health possible at KIT.

xii

Abstract

Introduction: Stunting in children under five has been a major health threat in Yemen for decades. At present, more than half of the children are stunted, leading to profound effects on children's cognitive development and future chronic diseases.

Objective: This study identifies and analyses the determinants of stunting among children under five to provide recommendations for policy decision makers on interventions to prevent stunting.

Methodology: The WHO conceptual framework for stunting was used as a guide for literature review, where the focus is on the context and causes.

Findings: The maternal factors are the most significant determinants for stunting in Yemen. These include a high rate of maternal undernutrition and mother's anaemia, frequent deliveries, and the low socioeconomic status of women. Moreover, exclusive breastfeeding for infants under six months is infrequent and complementary feeding of children under two years is inadequate in the Yemeni society, particularly among mothers of low education. Household food insecurity and lack of food diversity are also important causes of stunting. The latter two factors are much due to increases in food prices and the loss of jobs due to conflict. In addition, an important contextual factor is the lack of access to safe drinking water and poor hygiene which is associated with frequent recurrent episodes of diarrhoea in children under five. The conflicts in Yemen is one of the major contextual factors which have direct and indirect effect on children stunting.

Conclusion and recommendations: Stunting is a complex issue where the causal and contextual factors are intrinsically linked. For this reason, an integrated multi sectoral approach is essential to reduce its prevalence in Yemen. There is a need to enhance the societal status of women, as well as their level of nutrition and health. An increased community awareness of exclusive breastfeeding and adequate complementary feeding practices are also required. Furthermore, improving access to safe water and hygiene promotion with a focus in the 1000 days of child age holds potential as a factor to reduce stunting. Finally, further research regarding these determinants and how they influence each other is recommended to produce future interventions with a better response.

Key words: Stunting, under five children, risk factors and Yemen.

Word count: 12,792

Introduction

I am a medical doctor working with UNICEF Yemen, as nutrition and health officer. I have been working in the emergency nutrition program, since 2013. I have worked in a poor setting with limited resources in different places in Yemen. I have realized that malnutrition in children is a complex and vital subject. I have chosen the contributing factors of stunting for my thesis because I feel it is a very interesting subject. And I want to explore studies conducted about stunting in Yemen. Stunting is a good indicator of child health being. It impairs cognitive development, lower the immune system and greater risk of future chronic disease. Stunting is almost irreversible, but it can be prevented by improving nutrition for women and children in the first 1,000 days. Yemen is suffering from this problem for decades. Thus, if more than half of children are stunted, that means is a serious public health problem. Indeed, prompt procedures and action must be taken to reduce the rate of stunting target to reduce the number of children under age five who are stunted by 40% by 2025. However, Yemen still lag in achieving the target. This paper will derive recommendation to policy decision maker in Yemen, which can help in reducing stunting in Yemen.

Chapter one: Country background

Geography and Climate

Yemen is located south of Saudi Arabia and west of Oman, with borders to the Red Sea, the Gulf of Aden and the Arabian Sea. The country can be divided geographically into five major areas: The Mountainous-, the Coastal-, the Plateau-, the Desert- (Al-Ruba Al-Khali) areas, and the Yemeni islands. Yemen's climate is varied, but much of it is desert meaning it is generally dry and warm. There are two rainy seasons, from February to April and from July to August (6,7). The administrative division of Yemen is divided into two: governorates and districts. Governorates are the highest administrative divisions which are subdivided into districts. There are 22 governorates and 333 districts. (8).

Population Characteristics

According to the Yemen Central Statistical Organization (CSO), the population of Yemen is about 27.58 million, and the annual population growth rate is about 2.4%. The UNDP in Yemen has projected that the population will almost double in the coming 23 years, to around 40 million (9). In 2015, Yemen's birth rate was 32.2 per 1,000 people. Fertility rates for Yemen fell gradually from 7.7 births per woman in 1966, to 4.1 births per woman in 2015 (7,10). The majority of Yemen's population falls within the under 15 age band (40%), and only 4% of the population is above the age of 60(7). With respect to geographic distribution, 70 % of the population reside in rural areas.

Political Situation

Yemen has been political unstable for many years. The situation escalated in 2011 when several demonstrations and protests from the youth against the previous president, Ali Saleh, took place. In 2012, president Saleh agreed to hand over the power to his deputy, Abdrabbuh Mansour Hadi. In 2014 however, The Houthi group *(an Islamic religious-political-armed movement that emerged from Sa'dah in northern Yemen in the 1990s)* took control over the capital Sana'a, effectively ending the presidency of Abd Rabbu Mansour Hadi (11). Since then, the Houthis, who are allied with Hadi's predecessor Ali Abdullah Saleh and believed to have

Iranian backing, have pushed south. In 2015, Saudi Arabia with the United Arab Emirates (UAE) launched an intensive bombing and ground intervention campaign to restore Hadi to power, but the Houthis have managed to retain significant gains on the ground. Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP) has exploited the conflict to seize parts of eastern Yemen and develop a working relationship with anti-Houthi tribal militias (5,6). Political analysts conclude that it seems that the future of Yemen will be decided by conflict that will fulfil the agenda of AQAP, and not only cause immense damage to Yemenis and their country, but also put at risk Yemen's long history of sectarian cooperation (12).

Socio-Economic Conditions

Religion and language

The vast majority of Yemeni citizens are Muslims, and a minority (less than 55000) are Jews of which most have migrated to Israel and the US (13). The constitution provides freedom of religion, but Islam is the state religion and the Sharia (Islamic) law is the basis of all legislations. Arabic is the official language, with no other local languages. English is taught at schools from the 7th grade, but English proficiency mainly exists among those who received private education (7).

Education

The education cycle consists of nine years of primary education, followed by three years of secondary level study (14). Education overviews show that Yemen is one of the poorest countries in the Middle East, ranking as number 154 of 187 countries on the Human Development Index. The illiteracy rate in Yemen is high among women (65%), compared to 27% among men (5). Around 43% percent of females and 21 % of males of age 6 and older have never attended school (7). Yemen spends 5 % of its GDP on education (15). Unfortunately, the education situation has been greatly affected by three years of conflict. UNICEF reports that since the conflict escalated in March 2015, around two million children are out of school, and around 2500 schools are either partially or completely damaged due to airstrikes and shelling or occupied by armed groups (16).

Economy

Yemen is one of the poorest countries in the middle east and the north African region (MENA) (9). After 2015 the GDP has declined by nearly 32.9%. The public sector contributes to 46% of GDP,52.6% of aggregate demand and provides employment opportunities to around 31% of the employed population (17). According to the Ministry of Planning and International Cooperation (MOPIC), 80% of the governmental income comes from the oil and gas sector. The remaining part comes from the agricultural sector (17,18). After the escalation of the conflict in March 2015, oil and gas exports have been suspended. The limited financial resources that exist have since then been directed toward spending on military and publicsector wages, leaving millions of Yemenis at risk of famine. Clearly, the economy of Yemen is severely affected by the conflict. According to the world bank, poverty levels have dramatically increased to over 80 % after the conflict (19). Before 2015, poverty was also high and growing. In 2009, 43% of the population lived in poverty, and this figure increased to 55 percent by 2011. Poverty is particularly high in rural areas (20). After the war, millions of Yemeni citizens lost their jobs and livelihoods (19,21). In the last two years, the government was not able to pay salaries for all their governmental staff. Even before the war in 2015, the economic situation was not steady, and mismanagement, depletion of natural resources and corruption was present in most governmental bodies (20).

Health System

The Health System in Yemen

The health system in Yemen is mainly public and is operated by the government and a sizable private sector. The public care sector contains three components: primary health care (PHC) which is most active in rural areas, supported by secondary care at district level and the tertiary care level in the capital city. PHC was introduced in Yemen in 1979, and it now reaches 30% of the population in rural areas, and 50% of the population overall. The PHC has a preventative focus, aiming at health promotion, vaccination, maternal, child health and family planning (22). As opposed to the preventative focus of the public PHC, the private sector is mainly curative and chiefly available in and around urban areas. At present, private care acts more as a competitor than as a compliment to public health care services. (22,23). In addition to the public and private sectors, the charitable (private non-profit) health sector offers

specific health services through a number of National Non-Governmental (NNGOs) and International Non-Governmental Organizations (INGOs) (7,22). Currently there are 20 INGOs, 120 NNGOs and 7 UN agencies involved in the implementation of critical health activities in the country. All are working under the coordination of the local authority and health cluster which is led by the WHO (24).

The total health expenditures in Yemen amounts to nearly 4% of the GDP and the total expenditure on health per capita (Intl \$, 2014) is 202 (25). In the last years, the out of pocket (OOP) expenditure exceeds 70% of the total health expenditure, due to a declining public health expenditure (23).

The health system also suffers from poor infrastructure and a scarcity of human resources, as well as to the maldistribution and poor utilization of available staff. The public health sector is currently composed of about 3853 health facilities distributed over three key levels (2774 health units, 842 health centres and 237 hospitals), see Annex 1 (22,23).

Current Health in Yemen

Late in 2015, after Saudi Arabia collations interfered, the health system became more fragile and neared full collapse (26). Reports from humanitarian actors, such as the WHO and UNICEF, the escalation of the conflict has left around 14.1 million people, including 7.4 million children, in need of health care access (27,28). The WHO has reported that around 46% of health facilities are not functioning due to war and conflict. These facilities were either attacked by air strike or closed due to highly defect resources (29). Currently, the country has around 3 doctors per 10 000 people. In comparison, the highly developed country Switzerland has 40 doctors for the same number of people (30). Moreover, the ongoing conflict and crises in Yemen has left people with limited access to safe water and basic hygiene and sanitation services (21). Reports from the he cholera outbreak in December 2017 showed that around one million people were infected, and thousands of people died from this treatable disease (21,24). In addition to cholera, other contagious diseases such as diphtheria are spreading (31). Adding insult to injury, the shortage of medical supplies add an extra burden to the ministry of health, who currently relies almost exclusively on humanitarian actors to provide medical supplies to the country (24). Yemen remains in the early stages of epidemiological transition, with morbidity and mortality from communicable diseases still predominating over non-communicable diseases, and with high levels of malnutrition (7,32). Diarrhoea, malnutrition, acute respiratory infections and malaria are most common. Although these existed before the war, they have been exacerbated to new levels due to war and conflict (22,24,33).

The Yemen Nutrition Demography and Health Survey (YNDHS) conducted in 2013 showed that under-five mortality has been reduced from 150 deaths per 1,000 live births in 1985 to 53 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2011. Similarly, the maternal mortality ratio (MMR) fell gradually from 365 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2003 to 148 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2013. Despite the positive trend, these indicators are still high compared to many other countries in the world (7,34). It is worth mentioning that one study conducted in 2016 that measured the impact of war on child and maternal health showed the contrary, namely that under-five child mortality increased from 53 deaths per 1000 live births in 2013 to 56.8 in 2016 (35). Similarly, the national MMR has increased since the war from 1.3% from 2013 to 213.4 deaths per 100,000 live births in 2016 (35).

According to the 2013 YNDHS, 43% of Yemeni children age 12–23 months, have received all recommended vaccines. Vaccination coverage is higher in urban (59%) than in rural areas (37%). The national Immunization coverage for children in Yemen, is fluctuating due to the countries instability and the inability of the ministry of health to cope with such changes in the country context e.g. the BCG vaccine coverage (See Figure 1) (36).



Figure 1: BCG National immunization coverage source WHO & UNICEF

Chapter two: General introduction about childhood malnutrition

General background and types of childhood malnutrition

Nutrition is crucial for the health of human beings at all ages, particularly for children. An imbalanced diet and inadequate nutrition lead to one of the major global health problems, namely malnutrition (37). The WHO has classified child malnutrition in three broad types. The first type is undernutrition, which refers to wasting (low weight-for-height), stunting (low height-for-age) and underweight (low weight-for-age). The second type is overweight, which is referring to overweight and obesity. The third is micronutrient-related malnutrition, which includes micronutrient deficiencies (a lack of important vitamins and minerals) or micronutrient excess (38). Malnutrition is a multidimensional problem and almost every country in the world is suffering from at least one form of malnutrition. However, most malnutrition is present mainly in low and middle-income countries. Undernutrition can put children at high risk of infection, as children become more susceptible to infections and non-infectious diseases which can further deteriorate the nutritional status of children. A child will undergo a vicious cycle and it eventually will lead to child death (1). Around 49 % of child mortality is due to undernutrition (39). Malnutrition during the first 1000 days of a child's life will lead to stunting and chronic malnutrition and mental retardation (40).

Global perspective and trends on stunting

Stunting, in children under five, is a major global problem and particularly challenges low and middle-income countries. According to the last global nutrition report (2017), the current prevalence for stunting has reached 23.9%, or an estimated 155 million children (41). The majority of stunted children are living in Asia and Africa, where they account for 56% and 36% from the global trend respectively (42). Globally there is a reduction in the prevalence of stunting from 39.7% to 23.9 % in the last decades. In 2010 the prevalence was 26.7% and in 1990 it was 39.7%, which equals around 171 million and 253 million children respectively (42,43). According to the World Health Assembly, the number of stunted children in 2025, will be reduced to 100 million children, which constitutes a 40% reduction of the number of stunted children. The target has been included in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG

target 2.2) (41,42). Currently the prevalence of stunting remains high in several world regions, and improvement is lagging behind in African and the south east Asian regions. The south east Asian region has shown a better improvement than the African region, where prevalence of stunting has improved from 51.3 % in 2000 to 35 % in 2017. The African region has shown suboptimal improvement, with an overall prevalence decline from 45.3% to 34.1% (39). In 2018 UNICEF reported a significantly increased number of stunted children in the west and central Africa region, from 22.8 million to 28.9 million (39). Similarly, six countries are still suffering from a highest rate of stunting compared to the rest of the world, with around 50% of population is still stunted (5,4). These countries are Afghanistan, Burundi, Ethiopia, Madagascar, East Timor, and Yemen (43). These countries have the



Figure 2: Highest countries stunting prevalence, source UNICEF (1).

In other regions, like Latin America and the Caribbean, the prevalence of stunting is low, and it has been reduced from 16.9 % in 2000, to 9.6 % in 2017 (39). It is estimated that the Latin American level of stunting will be reduced even more in the coming decades (43). The European region has shown a very low prevalence of stunting for decades, declining from 18.6 % in 2000 to 8.5% in 2017 (39). However, there are still variations and discrepancies in interregional levels of stunting. For example, Haiti still has high rates of stunting despite being in the relatively low stunting region of Latin America (39,42).



Figure 3: Source (UNICEF, WHO, World Bank Joint Child Malnutrition dataset, May 2018 (39).

Consequences of stunting

Stunting has profound consequences during human life, and consequences may be short or long-term (44). Insufficient growth during childhood can lead to poor health outcomes and an increase of under-five mortality. Stunting alone cause 14 % of under-five child mortality (45). Stunting is irreversible and leads to a reduced adult stature (46,47). It is a chronic type of malnutrition, as the stunted child cannot regain its height. In contrast, the wasted child can regain its weight if a proper management is introduced (46). One prospective multi-country cohort study shows that catch-up growth for early stunting is possible (48), yet some scholars consider the possibility of catch-up growth limited, because children remain in environments that contribute to growth restriction (46). Another cohort study on stunting outcomes conducted in adults concluded that stunting is strongly associated with a decreased level of school performance, decreased per capita household expenditure and more liability by living in poverty. Women who were stunted in childhood have a higher chance of having an earlier first child and a greater number of children. Similarly, stunted males have less earnings were 1.0% increase in height leads to a 2.4% increase in the adult male earnings (46,47). More evidence exists that exposure to famine among people in China 1959-1961 has resulted to short stature and lower income (49). Growth failure in childhood and perinatal undernutrition, especially during the infancy period, could lead to chronic diseases like cardiovascular disease, hypertension and high blood glucose, however this association is still not clear enough to draw a firm conclusion (47,50). Undernutrition during infancy can be risk a factor for adult obesity. One study conducted in five Arab countries shows that the risk ratio of overweight in stunted children ranges from 3.85 in Libya to 0.76 in Yemen (51). Another longitudinal cohort study conducted in India showed that undernutrition in infancy is a

leading cause for an increased adult body mass index and glucose intolerance (52). Chronic malnutrition in the first 1000 days of life also has neurological consequences which can lead to cognitive impairments. In essence, nutritional deprivation during brain tissue development of the hippocampus in early infancy reduces dendrite density and causes cognitive damage (53). Two cohort studies also show an association of stunting in the first two years of life with less schooling and lower school performance with a loss of 4.64 grades of schooling (46).

Under five malnutrition situations in Yemen

Yemen has the highest rate of under-five (U5) child malnutrition in the world, and three distinct types of U5 malnutrition exists in the country.

- Acute malnutrition (severe and moderate wasting).
- Chronic malnutrition (stunting).
- Underweight.

The GAM rate for U5 children reflects figures of both severe acute malnutrition rates (SAM) and moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) rates (See Annex 2), and It is used as an indicator to reflect the national nutritional situation through surveys and nutrition assessments of children under five. Several assessments have been conducted to assess the U5 children nutrition situation in several parts of Yemen, such as the Standardized Monitoring and Assessment for Relief and Transition (SMART) survey conducted by UNICEF and MOPH, a family health survey conducted by MOPH, and a Comprehensive food security survey (CFSS) conducted by the World food program (WFP) (2,51,53). The prevalence of a global acute malnutrition rate (GAM) in Yemen is persistently high at more than 15%, which constitutes a critical situation. In several areas in Yemen, the GAM rate has reached above 30% (7,54). Figure 4 shows the variation of GAM in different parts of the country. Although the whole country suffers from high GAM (or wasting) rates, the highest is found in the coastal areas (55). In four out of nineteen governorates, acute wasting levels are surpassing the emergency threshold of 15 percent, with the highest rates recorded in Al-Hodeida (54).



Figure 4: GAM classification rate in Yemen 2018 (56)

In the Hodeida governorate, where the malnutrition rate is continuously the highest, the GAM rate has increased to above 30% after the conflict escalation. The figure below shows the result of different surveys in recent years that have shown undernutrition trends in Hodeida governorate (54).



Figure 5: Trends of malnutrition under five children in Hodeida governorate Yemen (51)

It is also worth mentioning that the situation of Yemeni children after conflict has become more serious. According to a 2017 UNICEF report, around 2.2 million children are acutely malnourished (GAM), from which around 462,000 suffer from severe wasting (SAM) and 1.7 million suffer from moderate wasting (MAM) (57,58). Since 2015, the conflict has caused a significant increase of the undernutrition trend by 200% (14). Furthermore, the level of underweight, which measures also the low weight for age, is also high in Yemen. The results of the 2016 Emergency Food Security and Nutrition Assessment (EFSNA) showed that the prevalence of global underweight ranges from 15.6% in Hadhramaut to 55.9% in the Hodeida governorate (55).

Stunting situation in Yemen

Stunting has remained persistently high in the last decades, with nearly half of children under five suffering from chronic malnutrition. In 2013, around 46.5% of Yemeni children under five years old were stunted, with no difference between males or females. Between 2011 and 2014, the stunting prevalence fell from 46.6% to 41.3% in 2014 (60). However, after conflict, the level rose to more than 60% in several areas (54). This is more than double the regional percentage in the middle east and north Africa (MENA) region (57,59). Figure 4 shows the different stunting trends in recent years, and Annex 3 shows different stunting levels across Yemen.



Figure 6: Prevalence of under five-stunting in the last decade in Yemen (7,19,34,54,60).

Chapter three: Problem statement, objective and methodology

Problem statement

Stunting is the impaired growth and development of children due to long term nutrient intake insufficiency and frequent infection (44), and it is considered the best indicator for child wellbeing (9). According to the WHO, children are defined as stunted if their height-for-age is more than two standard deviations below the WHO Child Growth Standards median (44). Stunting usually occurs before two years of age, and its effects have irreversible consequences (42). Childhood stunting leads to reduced adult stature (46), it is associated with an underdeveloped brain, and other long-lasting harmful consequences, including diminished mental ability and learning capacity, poor childhood school performance, reduced adulthood earnings and increased risk of nutrition-related chronic diseases (e.g. diabetes, hypertension and obesity) in the future (42,46).

The first two years after birth are characterized by rapid growth and high nutritional requirements. Children under two are also at high risk to infections. These factors combined make children under two particularly vulnerable to growth failure. Children with frequent growth failure remain small for their age or become "stunted", with the negative long-term consequences listed above.

Yemen has the second highest rate of stunting in the world, after Afghanistan (39). Due to political instability and the recent war crisis, the number of stunted children has increased from 1.693 million in 2012 to 1.860 million in 2015 (61).

Stunting often starts from pre-conception, when an adolescent future mother girl is undernourished and anaemic. This gets worse as the infant is born into a poor diet without access to safe water and proper hygiene (62). In Yemen, more than 522,000 pregnant women are prone to higher risk pregnancies and 1.1 million pregnant or lactating women suffer from Moderate Acute Malnutrition (MAM) (11,12,63). The high prevalence of child stunting is the result of multiple factors and intertwined relationships rather than a single causal relationship. This will be explored further in this research.

Main goal

To explore the determinants of stunting in children under five in Yemen and thereby provide recommendations for policy decision makers on interventions to prevent stunting.

Specific objectives

- a. To analyse and identify the determinants of stunting in children under 5 in Yemen.
- b. To analyse the nutrition programme of Yemen and explore how it meets its objectives.
- c. To make recommendations to the policy decision makers of the Yemen Ministry of Health regarding improving preventative interventions for stunting in children under five and their implementation.

Methodology

The methodology for this study is a literature review based on data from google scholar and PubMed. In addition, national data available from official websites of the Yemen ministry of health, reports of organisations working in Yemen (e.g. UNICEF, WHO, WFP), the official nutrition cluster website and other grey literature will be used. Snowballing will also be used to collect supporting information.

The literature review used following inclusion criteria: i) published in the past ten years, ii) including undernutrition in children under five, iii) full text available in English. Literature on HIV related topics with nutrition were excluded.

Key words

The database searches were conducted using the following keywords: Stunting in Yemen, determinants, risk factors, undernutrition, exclusive breastfeeding, complementary feeding, maternal education, maternal malnutrition, child development, water & sanitation and food security in Yemen.

Conceptual framework

The model employed to critically analyse the research findings was the WHO conceptual framework of stunting (Figure 1) (64). This model was chosen because it is comprehensive and inclusive about all determinants and consequences of stunting and gives a clear idea of how to analyse the stunting determinants in a systematic manner. The main pillars of this

framework are the context, causes and consequences. The first pillar, stunting consequences, is defined in the short and long-term consequence. This has been discussed briefly in the introduction using international research articles. The other two parts, causes and context, constitute the main part of the study findings, and will be discussed in detail. The most proximal factors derive from the causes pillar, and. includes household and family factors, inadequate complementary feeding, inadequate breastfeeding practices and infection. The second result part presents the contextual factors which include political economy, health and health care systems, education, society and culture, agriculture and food systems, and water, sanitation and environment. These appear individually in the framework, but in reality they overlap and interact to compromise growth and development.



Figure 7: WHO conceptual framework on Childhood Stunting: Context, Causes, and Consequences (64).

Limitation

Stunting is a complex issue, and abundant research has been conducted with hundreds of articles published. Access to full text articles however, is limited, especially for recent publications. In Yemen, most of the studies were conducted in one governorate and did thus not reflect the whole country's situation. The only exception was the nationwide survey conduct by WFP, UNICEF and MOH. The research framework used was comprehensive, yet it was still difficult to find good quality articles for example on the association between the child stimulation and stunting. Although several studies show the association and chance of determinants and stunting, clear evidence is lacking in some parts.

Significance of the study

This study is crucial because more than half of Yemeni children are stunted. Stunting is not limited to short stature, but also extends to cognitive development failure and becomes a basis for development of chronic diseases. Stunting in Yemen is a historically chronic problem, not a recent one because of the conflict. Political instability for decades may be a major determinant. The issue has irreversible consequences, but future high prevalence is still preventable. By critically exploring the determinants we can conclude with recommendations for proper intervention to prevent further stunting in the future.

Chapter Four: Findings

Causes



Household and family factors

Maternal factors

A poor nutritional status and inadequate intake of nutrients during preconception, pregnancy and lactation is a key determinant in early and later child growth and development. Maternal undernutrition contributes to fetal growth restriction which increases the risk of neonatal deaths and stunting by 2 years of age for the new-born. Micronutrients deficiency during pregnancy, specifically iodine and iron, can contribute to neonatal growth restriction causing children to not meet their developmental potential (62,65,66). The nutritional situation of women in reproductive age, according to CFSS 2014, shows that 25% of pregnant women between 15 and 49 years are underweight, of whom 14.4 percent were severely malnourished and where the mid upper arm circumference (MUAC) is less than 21.3 cm. More than four fifths are anaemic (60,67). According to a world bank report, 58% of pregnant women in Yemen, are suffering from iron deficiency anaemia (68). One study conducted in Yemen has shown significant association between maternal undernutrition and anaemia with a high percentage of low birth weight (68). Another study conducted in Yemen, by Souza in 2015, demonstrates that when a mother is undernourished, she has a higher chance to have stunted child (odds Ratio was 0.61) (69).

Adolescent pregnancy interferes with nutrient availability to the foetus, due to the competing demands of ongoing growth (70). Around 12% of women aged 20–24 years in Yemen were married before they reached 15 years of age (63). One of the consequences of early marriage is adolescent pregnancy and frequent pregnancies, which may contribute to the vicious circle of malnutrition. Adolescent girls are less likely to finish growing before their first pregnancy. These girls rapidly develop malnutrition because they cannot compensate the body needs for growing and pregnancy in the same time. This mechanism also leads to a compromise on the nutritional available for their child during pregnancy and lactation, which later affects child growth (67,68,71).

Maternal infection, related to malaria, helminths and other conditions may lead to intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) and a later stunted growth of the infant (72). Malaria is endemic in the coastal areas in Yemen (73). One cross sectional study conducted in Hodeida governorate showed a strong association between maternal malaria and low birth weight (OR 5.7, 95% CI 1.7–18.5; P = 0.004) (74). Another study showed that maternal infection equals a 9.44 times higher risk of preterm delivery and a 12.2 times greater risk of low birth weight .(75)

Low birth weight (LBW) is a good indicator for infant growth and survival. LBW accounts around 23.8 % of all births worldwide (76). One study conducted in south Asian and sub

Saharan developing countries in 2008, showed that the IUGR-LBW infants who survive, have low chances of reaching their full growth potentials (76–78). The incidence of low birth weight in Yemen is around 30% and it is significantly associated with maternal nutrition, maternal anaemia (68).

Short birth spacing increases the risk for depleted maternal reserves in subsequent pregnancies, with negative consequences for both mother and child (79). According to the YNHDS, 29% of married women in Yemen have an unmet need for family planning services (15 % for spacing births and 14 % for stopping childbearing). The most common FP in Yemen is the contraceptive pill, injection and an intrauterine device (7).

Short maternal stature was associated with low birth weight and stunting in the offspring (80). A study conducted in low and middle-income countries showed that a 1-cm increase in height was associated with a decreased stunting risk (RR, 0.968; 95% CI, 0.967-0.968) (81).

A number of recent studies have explored the impact of maternal mental health on child growth and development (82). The prevalence of maternal depressive symptoms across developed and developing countries range from 3% to 60%, with significantly higher rates in developing countries. Around 10% of pregnant women and 13% of women who have just given birth, experience a mental disorder (82,83). Maternal depression, particularly after delivery, decreases mother-to-child attachment, which in turn negatively affects child feeding (79,84). In Yemen, information on the prevalence of depression in women or studies of the relation between high level of stunting and maternal mental health are unavailable.

Home environment

Within the home environment, several economic and caring determinants are associated with stunted growth. Some of these factors relate closely to other contexts but are included here to underscore the importance of addressing modifiable household factors including inadequate child stimulation and activity, poor care practices, inadequate sanitation and water supply, inappropriate intrahousehold food allocation and low caregiver education.

A low educational level of the caregiver is strongly linked to a poor nutritional outcome (66,85). In Yemen, 42% of women of reproductive age have no education (7). Two studies conducted in rural areas have shown a strong association between low educational levels and a high level of stunting. The children, whose caregiver (Father, mother, grandmother) were

educated, had significantly lower odds of undernutrition compared to peers with an illiterate caregiver (63,86). Similarly, an educated mother reduces the likelihood of a child being stunted child by 47% (87). One study, conducted in Yemen in 2016, showed the effect of adequate child care on stunting, namely that adequate child care associates with a lower stunting level (86). This study used specific practices to reflect the child care level. The indicators used were adult family members leaving the children alone, number of children in the household aged 5–14 years, and children engaged in labour. The practice of not leaving children alone was significantly associated with a lower stunting levels were shown in households where older children were not working (OR, 0.82; 95% CI, 0.69–0.97; P = 0.024) (86). The average number of household family members in Yemen is 6.7 (7). Having more siblings often suggests more competition for food, which directly associated with child undernutrition among children under five (88).

Water and sanitation are substantial determinants of stunting (89). According to data from the YNHDS in 2013, 59% of Yemen's households (HH) use an improved source of drinking water, less than half of the households use improved toilets that are not shared with other households, and 25% of HH have no toilet at all (7). Only 34% of the total population in Yemen have access to pipe water. One national study conducted, showed the relationship between stunting and factors like access to pipe water and hand washing. It stated that 37% of children living in HH with access to pipe water are stunted, whilst the percentage is 50% in HHs without running water or no use of soap (87). Water and sanitation will be discussed more in depth in the context part.

Inadequate child stimulation and activity can interact with poor nutrition which later leads to growth delay (79). A study conducted by the WHO in several developing countries showed a strong association between adequate child stimulation on early childhood development and children's nutritional outcomes (90).

Household Food insecurity (HFI) is a key determinant for undernutrition in the most critical period of child growth and development (i.e. under five years) (91). The risk of stunting increases by 12% among children from food insecure households. In addition, a household with a female-head is 11.7 percentage points more likely to have stunted children compared

to a household with a male-head (7,60,92). Yemen has suffered from food insecurity in recent years. According to a survey conducted by WFP in 2014 by WFP, 40% of people are food insecure, with the majority living in rural areas (60). Households headed by females are more food insecure (7,60). In 2014, a nutritional survey of Hodeida revealed that 48.7% household members in the highland and 39.6% in the lowland reduced meal sizes due to food resource scarcity at HH level (54). In 2017, the WFP reported that due to the 2015 conflict escalation, food insecurity increased to 65 %, meaning that 17 million people became food insure. Simultaneously, the level of under-five stunting increased to 67% (67). Household food insecurity is also related to food access and other contextual factors like political economy and food system and agriculture policies which will be discussed further under contextual factors.

Inadequate complementary feeding

Poor quality foods

Even with adequate breast feeding, suboptimal complementary feeding after six months leads to delayed child growth and development (2,93,94). The WHO has defined an indicator to measure the complementary feeding for children under two, namely the minimum diet diversity which is set at four out of seven foods (2). A study conducted in Bangladesh has demonstrated that reduced dietary diversity is a strong predictor of stunting and inadequate child development (95). Other studies conducted in rural areas of developing countries show that the food intake is dominated by cereal staples (70-60%) and only 12% is protein, most of which is plant protein. These plant diets contain high phytate content and impairs micronutrient absorption, thus jeopardizing child micronutrients status. (45,96) (93). In addition, a low diversity diet correlates to the insufficient quantity of micronutrients needed for optimal child growth.

In Yemen, the WFP and UNICEF conducted a survey to measure the optimal complementary feeding by assessing a minimum diversity diet for children under two as defined by the WHO. It showed that only 12.4 % of children between six and 24 months met the WHO recommended minimum dietary diversity. More than 85 % of children do not consume a minimum dietary diversity and are likely to have poor micronutrient density in their diet (60).

Inadequate practice

In many developing countries, wrong feeding practices are common, and breast milk is usually replaced with fruit juice or other sweet drinks or cereal-based gruels, all of which are micronutrient-poor (97,98). An old study conducted for Toddler showed that breast milk together with an animal food diet after the age of six months produced significant improvement in linear growth among children (97). A study conducted in rural areas in the Dhamer governorate revealed poor dietary practices among both mothers and children e.g. sugary biscuits were a popular first food for babies (63). Another study conducted in Sanaa showed that the introduction of complementary food is initiated too early. Here, 22.4% of infants were receiving complementary foods before the age of six months, and only 5% of the study population met the minimum diversity diet (99). There are significant differences between rural and urban consumption patterns. About 30% of urban children had at least 4 food groups per day, which was significantly more than to rural children (60,99).

Food and water safety

Household-level hygiene practices such as hand washing, safe water sources and storage and sanitation conditions, affect the risk of diarrhoea and other morbidities which can interfere with growth. In a study conducted by Souza in Yemen, using soap and having water available translated to a lower chance of being stunted. The practices of handwashing with soap before feeding a child and after cleaning a child faeces were associated with 36% less chance of child stunting. The same study further showed that good food storage (in the fridge) reduced in the likelihood of having a stunted child by 51% (87).

Food preparation techniques, such as inadequate cleaning or cooking time, can also increase the risk of contamination. There are recent concerns about the potential role of mycotoxins, such as aflatoxin, in poor child growth and development. The mycotoxins can contaminate a wide range of staple foods, including maize and groundnuts in many diets of developing countries (100). The WHO has reported that diarrhoea episodes, due to contaminated food in children under five could reach 217 million infections globally. Contamination of complementary foods introduced to infants may result in serious enteric infections despite partial breastfeeding (101). One study conducted in Sanaa governorate showed that diarrhoea prevalence was high in an age less than one year and the prevalence was more in

non-breastfed children. The mixed fed children had 46% chance of contracting diarrhoea as a result of early introduction of complementary food before six months and bottle feeding (33).

Breast feeding

Studies in developing countries demonstrate that continuous and frequent breastfeeding is associated with greater linear growth and it further protects child health by delaying maternal fertility postpartum and reduces the child's risk of morbidity and mortality. Continued breastfeeding may also prevent dehydration in those recovering from infections (102–104). Conversely, delayed initiation of breastfeeding, not breastfeeding and non-exclusive breast feeding all increase the risk of morbidity and lead to a compromised linear growth (89,102). Early termination of breastfeeding (before six months) can also lead to stunted growth and development through multiple pathways including inadequate energy intake, nutrient deficiencies and removal of passive immunity provided by human milk (103). According to the YNHDS, 10% of infants of under the age of six months, were exclusively breast fed in 2013, although around 97% of children are breastfed to some extent Annex 4 shows more indicators of breast feeding (7). In the CFSS it shows that only 12 % of children under six months are exclusively breastfed. There was no significant difference between the rate of breastfeeding between the urban and rural areas (60). One study, conducted in rural areas in Dhamer governorate, also showed a poor level of exclusive breastfeeding. Water and animal milk were the most common liquids introduced (63). Another study conducted in Sanaa city showed that 10% of children under six months are exclusively breast fed and 55% of mothers provided bottle foods with breast milk to their child. This study showed that the reason for low Exclusive Breastfeeding (EBF) is associated with maternal age and level of education. EBF was higher among older and more educated mothers (99).

Infection

Diarrhoeal disease, respiratory illnesses, malaria, fever and helminth infection are known determinants for poor nutritional outcomes. Similarly, undernutrition decreases child immunity, making them more at risk to infection. This vicious cycle of malnutrition is common in developing countries (105,106). For years, diarrhoea and pneumonia have been a leading cause for under five mortalities where half of these mortalities are due to secondary malnutrition (107,108). Recent studies in developing countries have demonstrated a relation

between stunting and diarrhoea where persistent enteric infections lead to malabsorption of important nutrients for growth (107). Another study conducted in developing countries show that frequent diarrhoea episodes in the first two years of life could lead to an 8 cm decrease of child height. In this article it is demonstrated that diarrhoea causes up to 43% of child growth and cognitive development delays, most of which occurs in developing countries (109). Diarrhoea is an endemic disease in Yemen. According to the last national demographic survey, 32% of children under five had diarrhoea in the two weeks before preceding the survey. One cross sectional study conducted in Sanaa city showed that the prevalence of diarrhoea is 29%. In this study, diarrhoea was common in children living with large families due to infective agents which were likely to be transmitted from person to person. Also, caregivers of large families find it more difficulties to uphold hygiene and daily food requirements for their children (33). Another study conducted in Yemen showed that children who had diarrhoea had a higher chance to be stunted than children with no diarrhoea history, with an Odds Ratio of 1.25 (110). Intestinal parasites are common in Yemen and constitute a serious problem with a prevalence ranging from 18% to 27%. Parasitic infections impair nutrients needed for child nutrient absorption, which can affect child growth and anaemia (111). Diarrheal and parasitic infections are also related to water and hygiene practices which will be discussed in the context part. Similarly, in pneumonia studies, a significant interaction between pneumonia outcome and the nutritional status children has been shown. Pneumonia leads to delayed child growth and stunting, which in turn leads to poor pneumonia outcomes (106,112). The prevalence of acute respiratory tract infections is also high in Yemen (12 %) (7). Fever can be a sign of inflammation or malaria, and accordingly to the YNDHS survey, it 35% of children under five had been ill with fever in the last two weeks before the survey (7).

Contextual factors

Community and societal factors						
Political economy • Food prices and trade policy • Marketing regulations • Political stability • Poverty, income and wealth • Financial services • Employment and livelihoods	Health and Healthcare • Access to healthcare • Qualified healthcare providers • Availability of supplies • Infrastructure • Health care systems and policies	Education • Access to qualify education • Qualified teachers • Qualified health educators • Infrastructure (schools and training institutions)	Society and Culture • Beliefs and norms • Social support networks • Child caregivers (parental and non-parental) • Women's status	Agriculture and Food Systems • Food production and processing • Availability of micronutrient- rich foods • Food safety and quality	Water. Sanitation and Environment • Water and sanitation infrastructure and service • Population density • Climate change • Urbanization • Natural and mammade disasters	

Political and economy

Political and economic factors are a contextual baseline factor which influences the nutritional status of children. (79). Yemen's poverty is both the cause and consequence of several factors including political crisis, low educational level, improper infrastructure and extremely high unemployment rates (19,110). According to the CFSS in 2014, it shows that more than half of the Yemeni population, around 10.6 million, are food insured. The percentage of food insecure is higher in rural than in urban areas (60). After the escalation of the conflict, the number of food insecure people has grown rapidly to reach 17.8 million or 60% of the population (58). The most prominent reasons of food insecurity include rising prices for food, fuel, water and medicine accompanied by the loss of job and income opportunities as well as internal displacement of millions of citizens. In addition, agriculture and fishery and food imports were all interrupted by the crisis. All these factors have contributed to a reduced family capacity to feed their children (58,60,113). Inequality between rural and urban areas in Yemen is significant both with respect to child stunting and food insecurity levels. A study conducted in five Arab countries showed that the gap between the level of stunting between urban and rural areas is the highest in Yemen, at 17%, in comparison to the other countries in the MENA region. Egypt and Jordan for example, have gaps of 2.3% and 1.5% respectively (114). Similar results in the WFP survey found that around 48% of the total rural Yemeni population were found to be food insecure, compared to 26% in urban areas. Politics can directly relate to nutrition, for example by making regulatory policy and national guidelines for infant and young child feeding (IYCF) (79). Yemen's law complies with the International Code of Marketing of Breast Milk Substitutes. This is an important component of efforts to promote breastfeeding. According to the Yemeni Labour Code, employed women can leave work early to breastfeed their babies. However, employers are not required to provide breastfeeding facilities (115).

Education

Caregiver education is a strong predictor for both child health and nutrition outcome (79). Much evidence shows that the educational levels of for both mother and father influence child growth faltering. Two studies conducted in developing countries, including Bangladesh and Palestine, have verified that both maternal and paternal education are strong determinants of child stunting (116,117). It showed that a mother's education was associated

with a 4.6% reduction in the likelihood of the child being stunted, and if the father was educated there was a 3% reduction (118). In Yemen, the educational level of parents is low. Only 43% of females and 21% of males are attending school (7). Several constraints prevent them from access to good quality education, particularly for females. One of these constraints is a prevailing access inequality, which remains a potential obstacle to improve the quality of learning. So does the insufficient number of school buildings and teachers, especially in rural areas (15). Furthermore, the low number of qualified teachers is a crucial problem in Yemen as it impedes the quality of education (15,119). Results of a study conducted by Souza in 2015, 44% of stunned children have mothers without a secondary education, while only 24.5% of those whose mothers have secondary education are stunted (87). Another study by Sunil, showed that Yemeni children who have non-educated mothers have a higher chance of being stunted (OR=0.81) (120). The caregivers' education is significantly associated with exclusive breastfeeding, complementary feeding and the diversity of food. The result of a study conducted in Sanaa city shows that a higher education level can improve the caregivers' ability to understand and respond to nutrition behaviour change messages. The mothers' education is also associated with longer exclusive breastfeeding and less bottle feeding (99). Evidence also shows a lack of awareness among health workers and educators, about the proper CF and EB and its role in child growth (79). Unfortunately, due to financial constraints and lack of strategic qualified staff, Yemen has no clear plan for health worker career development and training in its national health strategies (22).

Society and culture

Society and culture are key determinants for child stunting in developing countries, particularly among low socio-economic status and less educated people. Community beliefs and norms, social networks and women's empowerment have profound effect on child feeding practices, which later has consequences on child growth and development (79). One systematic review concluded that grandmothers have the capacity to influence exclusive breastfeeding and the type of young child complementary feeding practices (121). In Yemen, multiple and different believes that have a negative effect on complementary feeding and exclusive breast-feeding practices. One qualitative study conducted in the Dhamer governorate, showed that most of participating mothers and fathers had misguided beliefs about the colostrum milk (milk during first hours of delivery). They believed it is not sufficient

food for the new-born and either added prelacteal feed or replaced it completely. In this, grandmothers believe had a strong influence on the child feeding practices (63).

The picture is not different from a study conducted in the Sanaa governorate which showed the effect of societal factors about misconceived habits of introducing milk and juices or water before the age of six months (99).

There is an association between the level of low socioeconomic status (SES) and the chance of being a stunted child. One study by Sunil in Yemen showed that a low SES increases the chance to have stunted children (OR=1.73) (110). Women's empowerment is also a key factor for child growth and development, because women tend to be the main caretaker for their children (79). The YNHDS shows that Yemeni women had less power to make decisions about their health, own care and household purchase, and only 8% of women have the power to make decisions themselves (7). Culture strongly affects the household life pattern in Yemen, and women tend to be completely dependent on their husbands for food and healthcare (7). Low levels of women's empowerment in Yemen also affects the household allocation of food. Women and children eat after men. This is more common in rural areas and leads to less quantity and quality of food allocated to them (122).

Agriculture and food system

Agriculture and nutrition are intrinsically intertwined, and agriculture's impact pathways on nutrition are diverse and interconnected (123). Agriculture also interacts with other different contextual conditions such as the environment and political economy to drive food availability and access (124). Food systems have an impact on the nutritional status of children through child food processing, production and food safety pathways (79,123). Food processing has an enormous potential to both increase dietary diversity and enhance concentrations of micronutrients in commonly consumed foods (125). One study conducted in 170 developing countries showed that the level of a country's agricultural infrastructure is an important determinant in the rate of chronic malnutrition in children (126). Moreover, agriculture is fundamental to structural transformation of economies and poverty reduction which has effect on stunting (124). One study conducted by Ruel shows that a 10% increase in gross domestic production (GDP) leads to a 5.9% reduction on child stunting (127). Yemen is an agricultural society where agriculture is the main livelihood for more than half of the Yemeni population (53%) (7,55), even though agriculture contributes to less than 20 % to the

country's GDP. Crop production in Yemen covers around 25-30% of the country's needs, either from cereal and or from cultivation production. Around 90% of wheat, the main staple food, is imported from outside and only 3% is local production. Regarding the local livestock production, this covers more than 60% of the livestock products needs in the country. The agricultural sector has been heavily constrained by conflict due to continued insecurity, less access to land and disruption of the market system which leads to an increased food insecurity level from 47 % before conflict to 63% after conflict, and this was also associated with an increased level of children stunting (55,60). In 2017, a nationwide survey was conducted, the Emergency Food Security and Nutrition Assessment (EFSNA). This survey demonstrated that the food consumption score (FCS), which is used to identify food access, consumption problems and the household diversity diet, has a statistically significant association with stunting, more so than that of wasting (OR= 24.9 and 0.75 respectively) (55). Souza's study showed that the percentage of stunted children who live in an household that owns agricultural land is less than among those who live in rented land (36% and 57% respectively) (87). Lack of micronutrient rich food is common in Yemen, where 41% have a poor diet because of high food prices, and most families are not able to afford nutritious food (55,79). The pregnant and lactating women and children under five are the most vulnerable groups in terms of negative outcomes due to lack of micronutrients rich foods. According to the WHO and the world bank, the anaemia rates for young children and pregnant women in Yemen are 68 percent and 58 % respectively.

Health and health care system

The health care system has profound effects on child growth and development in various ways. According to the WHO's conceptual framework, effects can be derived from access to health care; availability of qualified healthcare providers; availability of supplies; health infrastructure and health policies. The framework also helps in identification and early diagnosis of the faltering of child growth (79). In Yemen, access to the healthcare system is very low compared to neighbouring countries such as Egypt and Jordan (115). According to the world bank, more than half of the Yemenis have no access to health care services due to lack of health facilities (23). The health care access for pregnant women is crucial to reduce the stunting rate among children. One study conducted in Yemen by Al-Sobaihi in 2016 showed the association between access to antenatal maternal care and the level of stunting

among children. It showed that antenatal care provision is significantly associated with lower prevalence of stunting OR=.78 (OR, 0.78; 95% Cl, 0.66– 0.92; P = 0.003) (86). Poverty was identified as the main factor that kept women from seeking antenatal care (128).

One study conducted in Malawi showed that living far from the health facilities is associated with a higher prevalence of stunting (129). According to Souza's study in Yemen, living far from the health facilities is less associated with stunting. Souza argued that those who live far from the health facilities are generally of good wealth (87). The lack of access to health care is mainly due to lack of health facilities. Around half of the existing facilities are not functioning after the conflict either due to being destroyed, partially destroyed or due to lack of staff and medical supplies (23,130). In Yemen, the number of qualified staffs are not sufficient, with only 1 doctor per 3600 citizens. Additionally, there is maldistribution of staff, where they majority are located in urban areas with 42% of total doctors concentrated in four governorates. Recently, all health workers in the public sector have been without salaries for more than one year which leads to more challenges in the already constrained system. The level of dissatisfaction among health workers and patients is high, mainly due to poorly equipped facilities, the acute drug and supplies shortages and the low coverage of health services (23). According to the world bank and WHO, only 45 % are fully functioning after the conflict, and from these, only 35% are providing maternal and new-born health services (MNH), whilst 42 % are providing nutritional services (23). More details of types and existing nutrition interventions in Yemen will be discussed later.

Water, sanitation and environment

Unsafe drinking water and poor sanitation services is a key determinant for undernutrition. Diarrhoea, which is mainly due to lack of potable water, is a significant driver of undernutrition and under five child—mortality, especially in developing countries. As mentioned earlier in the discussion of infections, stunting is strongly linked to high rates of diarrhoea. There is clear evidence that chronic exposure to microbes, due to environmental contamination leads to malabsorption and chronic inflammation that causes chronic activation of the immune system which diverts the available nutrients to fight microbes than rather growth (131). Improved water and sanitation services help improve nutrition, but they may have better outcomes if they are focussed on infants and young children (132). Additionally, improved sanitation is associated with decreased stunting levels, especially in

rural areas where open space defecation is common (131,133). A study conducted in Bangladesh showed that children who had access to clean drinking water, improved toilets, and facilities for handwashing with soap had 50% improvement their stature (134). In Yemen, open defecation is still practiced by 20% of the population in the rural areas where low hygiene levels and sanitation standards is also common (135). In Yemen, there is a strong association between stunting and hygiene practices like using soap after defecation, with those washing with soap having 36% less chance to be stunted (87). According to UNICEF's Knowledge, Attitude and Practice (KAP) survey in 2014, access to improved water sources in Yemen has declined in recent years, and less than 8% of Yemeni HH treat their drinking water whether it is from an improved or unimproved source (135). The KAP survey further revealed the weakness of the national sanitary hygiene knowledge and practices. For, most people believe that washing hands by water alone is enough, and that child faeces is less harmful that of adults (135). Due to that groundwater levels have lowered by 6-7 meters annually in recent years, making it more difficult to access pipe water and keeping a good level of hygiene and sanitation, Yemen has and continues to suffer from water scarcity (136). The water and sanitation situation in Yemen dramatically worsened by man-made disaster and war that caused the water and sanitation system to collapse, leading to the largest cholera outbreak in recent times (137). The last conflict also left around 13.4 million without access to drinking water and 12 million people without proper sanitation (138). Moreover, the war also relocated of 10.3% of the total population as internal displaced persons (IDP), and access to safe water became even harder for this vulnerable group (136).

Chapter five: Interventions to address stunting in Yemen

In the previous chapter, the problem was described with respect to the influencing factors related to stunting, and this chapter will describe the existing interventions related to stunting in Yemen.

Developing national stunting targets

In 2013, the MOH set the national strategy from 2013 until 2020 with a nutritional target to reduce the stunting rate to 23.3% by 2020. This is also in accordance with the WHA target. According to the DHS, the number of stunted children were 1.60 million in 2013 (7). The

government's national plan is to reduce the number of stunted children to 0.96 million by 2020, whilst the WHA target in Yemen is to reduce number of stunted children to 1.02 million by 2025 (139). The European commission in Yemen anticipates that the number of stunted children will increase to 1.83 million by 2025 due to population growth and the current escalation of the conflict. The rate of decline in the number of children stunted had slightly accelerated from 0.51 in 2012 to 0.69% in 2016 as it is shown in Figure 8 (140). Thus, the government and the national WHA stunting target will not achieve their objective target unless drastic changes are made.



Figure 9: Trends and Target in the U5 stunted children (61) (Source EU Yemen).

Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) movement in Yemen and the Nutrition Cluster

There are two initiatives which work to address malnutrition in Yemen through ensuring government commitment and multisectoral incorporation. The movements are the SUN movement and the nutrition cluster (141). Yemen joined the movement in 2012 when the Yemeni government committed to be part of this movement and appointed the Minister of MOPIC as the SUN focal point. The SUN movement in Yemen is linked directly to Nutrition Cluster activities, where all stakeholders operate on one platform. The overall progress for the SUN movement in Yemenis 41%. The figure below shows its four main objective progresses (142). Similarly, the Yemeni Nutrition Cluster was started in 2009 to ensure

coordination among nutrition partners as well as to coordinate with other sectors to ensure integrated response (143).



Figure 10: SUN Movement progress in Yemen 2017.Source: SUN YEMEN.

Nutrition programs in Yemen

Community-based Management of Acute Malnutrition (CMAM) program

The CMAM is a program for management of under-five malnutrition (SAM and MAM) with a community approach and It has four components described in table 1. It is one of the most sensitive programs to reduce stunting (144). As studies have shown, CMAM is a highly cost-effective program in developing countries (145). In Yemen, the CMAM program commenced in 2008. The Ministry of Health with the support of UN agencies (UNICEF, WHO & WFP), has developed national guidelines on CMAM that were tailored to the Yemeni context. The CMAM protocol is meant for all nutritional partners and all health workers in the field (146). The program is conducted both at the level of the health facilities and the communities, and through mobile teams. The government with support of UNICEF and WHO, constitutes 80% of the interventions and 20% is by NNGOs and INGOs (141). The table below shows the four CMAM components and the number of facilities achieved by the nutrition cluster partners in 2017 (See Table 1) (146,147).

Table 1: The CMAM program in Yemen with achieved target in 2017

Outpatient	Treatment of SAM LIE with complication at level of health facility	Number of OTD
Outpatient	realment of SAW 05 with complication at level of health facility	Number of OTP
Therapeutic	or mobile team, where children are receiving treatment and read	open: 308.3
program (OTP).	to used food (RUTF) as per national guideline.	
Therapeutic Feeding	Treatment of SAM U5 with complication as inpatient care where	Number of SC
Centres (TFC) or	patients receive 24-hour care.	open: 42.
Stabilisation		
Centres (SC).		
The supplementary	Treatment of MAM U5 children with Ready-to-use	Number of SFP
feeding program	Supplementary Food (RUSF).	open: 1942.
(SFP).		
Community	Activities included training community health volunteers (CHV)	Number of
mobilisation.	on screening for acute malnutrition through the measurement of	trained CHVs:
	mid-upper-arm circumference (MUAC)in addition to increase	11,029.
	nutrition awareness of the community.	

As shown in figure 10, the progress of CMAM is good (148). Nevertheless, the coverage for the CMAM had not reached its target by 2017. The coverage for the SAM, according to the last nutrition cluster report, is 72% and MAM coverage is 48%. It seems that the coverage is not matched, and this reflects less integration of the Yemen nutrition program. This program has not achieved its target mainly because of the low funding of CMAM, the limited number of CHVs and unpaid salaries for health workers (148).



Figure 11: progress of CMAM program in Yemen source (UNICEF-Yemen)

Improving the nutrition status of mothers

Addressing maternal wasting and food insecurity with a balanced energy and protein supplementation is one of the most sensitive interventions that can help to reduce stunting (149) The world food program in Yemen has taken the lead in treating wasting in pregnant and lactating women (PLW). This is conducted through screening of malnourished mothers by MUAC and providing those with an MUAC less than 21 cm with 6 kg of Super Cereal for mothers monthly. In the 2017 WFP report it was mentioned that 85,919 PLW's have been admitted in their program (150).

Improving the micronutrient status of the under five children and pregnant and lactating

women

Interventions which work to improve micronutrient deficiency of both mother and child can make a significant difference on the mother and child health outcomes (144). The Micronutrient supplementation activities in Yemen include vitamin A supplementation, iron/folic acid supplementation for pregnant and lactating women and multiple micronutrient powders for children U5 and PLW. One of the most widespread activities is distribution of micronutrients powder for U5 children and PLW (151) (123). Vitamin A supplementation happens through measles vaccination activities to children at the age of 9 months old and 1.5-year-old trough MOPHP with support of UNICEF and WHO (153). Deworming activities are conducted as part of improving the micronutrients status of U5

children though the deworming drug campaign (152,153).

Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) program in Yemen

IYCF counselling is an important intervention in addressing childhood stunting because it focuses on the first two years of the child's life. The IYCF program focuses on prompting EBF and increasing awareness about complementary feeding with an emphasis on diet diversification (149). The Yemeni ministry of health has produced a national policy and training guideline for the IYCF program. At the national level, IYCF technical workings were made through discussions between technical people about how the nutrition partners can be efficiently included in the IYCF program efficiently (154). The IYCF in Yemen is implemented at the community level through community health workers as an integrated part of CMAM,

as well through opening of the IYCF corner in health facilities that are run by midwives (141). The progress for IYCF has begun recently, and its progress has not yet been sufficient, nor has it reached the target objective (147). EBF is still low, and inadequate complementary feeding remains prevalent among mothers (155). To date, no studies show the impact of IYCF intervention in Yemen.

Type of nutrition intervention	People reached	Target 2017
Number of SAM child admitted	86,464	323,218
Number of MAM U5 child	125,730	870,896
admitted		
Number of PLW admitted in	75,944	552,484
SFP program		
Number Caretakers	181,156	1,988,941
and PLW participated in IYCF		
counselling		
Number of children receiving	67,114	566,484
micronutrient powder		

Summary for nutrition program with their target and people reached in 2017:

Table 2: Summary of most significant nutrition intervention In Yemen. (Source: Nutrition Cluster).

IMCI, Improving children under-five's health status

In 1998, Yemen developed a program to treat childhood illness as an integrated package. This program is referred to as the integrated childhood management of childhood illness (IMCI). A program like IMCI has proved successful in Tanzania, where its implementation improved children stunting nationally (156). Likewise, the IMCI program in Yemen has helped to reduce the U5 child mortality. However, one challenge limits the program's progress, namely the shortage of supplies and unavailability of health workers due to unpaid salaries (141,157). Also, the low perception of the community through community leaders is adding an extra limitation to this program (158).

Other sectors intervention (wash and food security)

Several studies have been conducted to address malnutrition by a multisectoral approach instead of only focusing on the health sector (127,144,159). Reducing the child stunting rate through integration of a nutrition program with wash intervention has proven successful in several literature sources (131,160). One study proved that reducing fecal-oral microbial transmission by improving water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) helps improve the linear growth of children (161). The table below show the most significant interventions reported

by wash cluster partners (INGO&NNGOs) with the target, number of people reached and coverage (162).

Type of wash intervention	Target	No of people	Coverage
		reached	
Hygiene promotion and community	2,852,196	1,300,393	46%
mobilization			
Distribution of basic hygiene kits	1,379,678	558,491	40 %
Water sources improvement through	1,428,624	462,821	46%
rehabilitations and/or constructions			
Institutional Latrine improvement	1,428,624	462,821	32%
through rehabilitations and/or			
construction			
Water Filter distribution	963,118	155,480	16%
Chlorine tablet distribution	3,383,416	1,118,328	33%

 Table 3: Wash intervention in Yemen by wash cluster partners (source: Yemen Wash Cluster).

The second program is improving the food security level through general food distribution, cash transfer and improving livelihoods for the most vulnerable group, i.e. IDP and female headed families (163). The safety nets program is a program that helps reduce poverty through cash and food transfers (164). Pooled evidence showed limited effects of these program on child nutrition though individual evidence shows that these programs can have an effect on younger and poorer children if they are exposed to a longer program duration (165). The social safety nets in Yemen aim to reduce poverty and improve social care through activities mentioned in the box below.

Box 1: Main safety net activities in Yemen (166)

- Providing cash assistance for poor households that meet specific criteria.
- Implementing projects that aim to create job opportunities, lead to ownership of assets or provide the basic social services.
- Providing social protection for military and non-military employees during old age and illness.
- Supporting productive activities in agriculture or fisheries.

The Main implementer of this activities is the Social Welfare Fund (SWF). Other INGO and NNGO actors also participate in these programs. These programs seem to be very limited and weak and are not achieving the intended changes (166).

Discussion

Causes

Yemen has one of the highest national stunting rates globally, and the country has suffered from this problem for decades. Stunting is of concern not only in the short term, but also on the long term as it has significant effect on the cognitive development and future disease of today's children. The first 1000 days of a child's life, from conception until two years of age, is the most sensitive period of development. Any factor affecting nutrition intake or child health during this period will negatively affect a child's further growth and development. Several reviews have found that a high rate of maternal undernutrition, including anaemia, is a key determinant of stunting in Yemen, causing a chronicity of stunting and a continuous vicious circle of malnutrition. Indeed, improving the nutritional status of mothers is one of the most crucial specific nutrition interventions needed in order to reduce the stunting rate. The WHO has presented Peru as an example of one of the most successful interventions in reducing the stunting rate (167). The Peruvian intervention focussed on improving maternal nutrition status of the mother, and subsequently reduced stunting rates from 54% to 20% (168). Low levels of mothers education in Yemen also corresponds to child stunting. One study conducted in neighbouring Oman has showed that targeting an increased educational level of the mother leads to increased child height (169).

The present review shows a low rate of adequate IYCF practices in Yemen. For example, Yemen's EBF rate in Yemen is the lowest in comparison to its neighbouring countries. In Lebanon, the EBF rate is 27.4% (170), in Saudi Arabia it is 13.7% and in Kuwait it is 26.5% (171). It seems that a low EBF rate is not a local issue in Yemen, but rather a general issue in the MENA region. In a study conducted in Kuwait in 2014, separate family housing, higher maternal age, late initiation of breastfeeding and employment without the ability to breastfeed at work are presented as propelling factors for low EBF rates (172). The high maternal age in Yemen was also seen as factor for Low EBF.

This paper has revealed that a low rate of EBS and improper complementary feeding is linked with low maternal educational levels, and thus suggests that the education level of mothers regarding the IYCF practice will help increase their awareness and prevent misguided practices. This review has illuminated that inadequate complementary feeding after six

months of age is common in Yemen. This is due to many factors: less diversity of food in the diet, low food safety and improper hygiene practices for infant feeding. Improving the diet quality of children also depends on household food security as most families cannot cope with the inflation of food prices due to the recent crisis. The findings presented also show that early introduction of non-milk fluids, such as sweetened water and biscuits, is common practice in Yemen. It has been reported that early introduction of complementary food concerns 80% of infants in the MENA region (173). There is an urgent need to prompt good IYCF practices at community level and to increase maternal awareness of adequate complementary foods through health workers and the media.

Another significant risk factor for stunting is household food insecurity (HFI). This review has revealed that half of Yemenis are food insecure, with HFI being more prominent in poor household and female headed families. HFI leads to reduced diet diversity which compromises the required nutrients for optimal child growth. Studies in various countries, like Vietnam, Ethiopia and Nigeria show that the likelihood of child stunting is higher in food insecure households and low-income families (176,177). In Afghanistan, children living in poor households have a 49.4% higher chance to be stunted, in comparison to 31.1% among children living in rich households (176). The recent safety nets program intervention in Yemen failed to meet the people needs and faced many challenges. There is a high need to increase the coverage of such a program. One good example presented by the WHO is the safety net program in Ethiopia which has had a good impact on reducing the chronic food insecurity in rural areas through prompting the empowerment of women, increasing the purchasing power of its target population and promoting access to nutritional foods (144,167).

Diarrhoea, pneumonia and malaria and parasitic infections are common diseases in Yemen, also constituting direct causes for stunting. The present review findings show that more than 32% of children in a national survey had a history of diarrhoea within two weeks of the survey, with a strong correlation to a high stunting rate. A similar study in Ethiopia showed that a high stunting prevalence was observed among children who had diarrhoea in the two weeks before the survey (177). This review finds that not having diarrhoea is associated with a 36% reduction in the likelihood of being stunted. In Yemen, implementation of IMCI to treat such diseases is still limited and faces several challenges. Although this program has reduced U5 mortality by 50%, the effect on stunting rates is not tangible yet. Conversely, the IMCI

program in Bangladesh has improved child health level and reduced stunting rapidly in recent years (178).

Context

The ongoing conflict and political instability in Yemen have influenced child growth indirectly by affecting direct causes like food insecurity, the collapse of the health system, and the wash system, and the deterioration of the economic condition of people. Evidence shows that the prevalence of hunger increased up to 4.4% in countries with conflict (179). According to a global nutrition report, undernourishment will never end without peace and stability. The SDG goal **16** underscores that nutrition should be included in disaster reduction and in conflict resolution and prevention (41).

This review has also shown that water and sanitation is a fundamental challenge in Yemen, that has a direct effect on the high national stunting rate. In Yemen, open defecation remains a common practice, particularly in rural areas where the level of stunting is higher. One study showed that to normalise child growth, the provision of toilets is a prerequisite (180). It has become clear that nutritional interventions are only part of the solution to stunted growth. In countries such as India, for instance, stunting occurs even among well-fed children, and that has led investigators to consider other causes, especially poor sanitation and hygiene (181). Diarrhoea is also related to access to safe water and hand washing. Indeed, high rates of diarrhoea in Yemen are related to improper hygiene practices and the lack of access to safe water. There is a need to increase the coverage of wash interventions in Yemen as study evidences has shown that 90% in coverage of wash interventions, beside integration with other sectors, can lead to a decrease of 25% of the stunting rate (89).

Additionally, this review has shown the important impacts of health access to child health. The association between child growth and access or distance to a health facility has no strong evidence, and in a study by Al-Sobaihi no clear reason for the relationships between the access of pregnant women to ANC services and stunting was found (86). In the intervention part it was shown that the CMAM program still meets several challenges in coverage and in reaching more children, especially for MAM.

Generally, the low levels of socioeconomic status and education in Yemen were clearly revealed in this review. The level of caregiver education has a strong impact on nutritional

behaviour and child caring practice, which in turn influences on child growth. In this review, a low SES was closely associated with stunting in Yemen. A Similar study conducted in Oman shows that a child on a higher SES has less chance to be stunted (169). Rural and urban difference is significant in Yemen. This can be explained by the inequalities of socioeconomic status and health services as well as the difference of literacy level between rural and urban areas. The rural to urban gaps in child stunting in Yemen are 17.7%, the highest in comparison to other Arab countries like Jordan and Egypt (1.5% and 2.3% respectively) (114). Also, social norms regarding breast feeding and child feeding practices showed an impact on the nutrition status of children, particularly in less educated families and rural areas.

A significant association was also found between child stunting and a low status of women in society. This affects both the quality of infant care and nutrition. In Yemen, the majority of the women have no decision-making power over their health and food purchase for the family. A study in India showed that women with more autonomy (indicated by access to money and freedom to choose to go to the market) were significantly less likely to have a stunted child when compared with their peers who had less autonomy (182).

Conclusion & Recommendations

Conclusion

The maternal factor is one of the most significant determinants of child stunting in Yemen. It involves a high rate of maternal undernutrition and anaemia during the reproductive age, high illiteracy rate among women, frequent deliveries and a gender inequality. All these factors compromise the essential nutrients needed for the mother and their children's growth in various way. Other important key factors are the low IYCF practices and the effect of the caregiver's education and social norms on the adequate complementary feeding and exclusive breast-feeding practices. Proper child feeding is also strongly linked to household food insecurity and availability of the minimum diet diversity required for adequate child feeding. Important contextual factors in Yemen are the lack of access to water, and low hygiene and sanitation levels which leads to frequent episodes of diarrhoea that in turn depletes the nutrients that are needed for child growth and deteriorates child immunity leading to a vicious circle of malnutrition. Conflicts in Yemen are playing a major role in the collapsing of vital services like health, incomes and infrastructure which later has impact on health and nutritional status of the most vulnerable group, the PLW and U5 children. Finally, it seems that influencing factors of stunting are broad and interlinked. Therefore, intervention to reduce stunting requires a multi-sectoral approach, political commitment and adequate cooperation with all stakeholders in the country.

Recommendation

To reduce child stunting in Yemen a multi-sectoral approach is needed because the causes and determinants of stunting are complex and multiple. Political commitment is crucial at all levels, starting from national- to regional- and up to global level. Also, strengthening the integration and coordination among different sectors is important. The proposed intervention must focus on the following points:

- Improve household food security and empowerment of women through increasing the safety net program coverage and prompt programs that improve community livelihoods.
- Improve mothers' and other caregivers' awareness about the importance of EBF and adequate complementary feeding at community level through community health volunteers and at health facilities level through health workers.
- Enhance the health and nutritional status of under five children through improving the CMAM coverage, especially in rural and remote areas together with the IMCI program.
- Enhance the health and nutrition status of the mother at reproductive age through facilitating the access to ANC/PNC services and enhancing their nutrition diet through a supplementary feeding program.
- Improve access to safe drinking water and community hygiene promotion, especially in the rural areas.
- Advocacy for the important role of the agricultural sector in mother and child nutrition.
- Focusing on the quality of all interventions to assure that all program meets their objective.

Finally, further research is needed to investigate the depth of causes of stunting in Yemen e.g. conducting nutritional causal analysis. Research is also needed to reveal the impact of the existing program and how it can be improved to reach the stunting reduction target by 2025.

References

- 1. United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund. Tracking Progress on Child and Maternal Nutrition [Internet]. New York, USA; 2009. p. 4. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/Tracking_Progress_on_Child_and_Matern al_Nutrition_EN_110309.pdf
- 2. WHO. Indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices Definitions -Part 1 Definitions. WHO Libr Cat Data. 2008;(November):19.
- FSNWG. Definitions of common nutrition terms. 2017;(January):1–13. Available from: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/drought/docs/Definitions of common nutrition terms_FSNWG_2017.pdf
- 4. Forsyth S. WHO Code of Marketing of Breast milk Substitutes Fact sheet for Health care professionals Summary. J Pediatr Health Care. 2017;
- 5. Union E. Food Security Information for Action Food Security Concepts and Frameworks Lesson 1 What is Food Security ? Learner 's Notes. 2008.
- 6. US Central Intelligence Agency. The World Factbook Central Intelligence Agency [Internet]. 2017. Available from: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-worldfactbook/geos/le.html
- Ministry of Public Health and Population (MOPHP) [Yemen], Central Statistical Organization (CSO) [Yemen], The Pan Arab Program for Family Health (PAPFAM), ICF International. Yemen National Health and Demographic Survey 2013. 2015;
- 8. Division for Public Administration, and Development Management (DPADM), Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA), United Nations. Yemen county profile UN 2004. 2004; (February).
- 9. UNDP. About Yemen | UNDP in Yemen [Internet]. 2016. Available from: http://www.ye.undp.org/content/yemen/en/home/countryinfo.html
- Yemen CSO. Yemen CSO 2017 Population Projections by Governorate & District, Sex & Age Disaggregated [Internet]. Vol. 1. 2015. p. 2015. Available from: https://data.humdata.org/dataset/yemen-cso-2017-population-projections-bygovernorate-district-sex-age-disaggregated
- 11. BBC. Yemen crisis: Who is fighting whom? BBC News. 2018; Available from: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-29319423
- Brehony N. Yemen and the Huthis: Genesis of the 2015 crisis. Asian Aff (Lond)
 [Internet]. 2015;46(2):232–50. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03068374.2015.1037162
- Tobi Y. The jews of Yemen: studies in their history and culture [Internet]. 2006. p. 301. Available from: http://bvirtual.bibliotecas.csic.es/primo_library/libweb/action/search.do?ct=Next+Pa ge&pag=nxt&indx=21&dscnt=0&vl(27484311UI1)=all_items&scp.scps=scope:(csicale phbib),scope:(csicalepharc),scope:(csicdspace),scope:(csicsfx)&frbg=&tab=default_
- 14. Education in Republic of Yemen "The National Report." Present to forty seventh Sess

Int Conf Educ. 2007;(September).

- 15. Yuki T, Yuriko K. Improving the quality of basic education for the future youth of Yemen Post-Arab spring. Glob Econ Dev [Internet]. 2013;(59). Available from: http://www.brookings.edu/research/papers/2013/01/education-yemen-yukikameyama%5Cnhttp://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2013/1/e ducation Yemen yuki kameyama/01 education Yemen yuki kameyama
- UNICEF. In Yemen, children's education devastated after three years of escalating conflict. UNICEF MEDIA CENTER [Internet]. 2018; Available from: https://www.unicef.org/yemen/media_12502.html
- 17. Albatuly A. Yemen Socio-Economic Update. Ministry of Planning & International Cooperation Economic Studies & Forecasting Sector. 2016. p. 1–5.
- Burki TK. Yemen's hunger crisis: Political instability and soaring food prices have exacerbated the health problems for Yemen's already impoverished and malnourished population. Talha Khan Burki reports. Lancet [Internet]. 2012;380(9842):637–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61356-7
- 19. Document G. Yemen Overview [Internet]. World bank in Yemen. 2018. p. 12–7. Available from: http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/yemen/overview
- 20. Bank W, Works P. Republic of Yemen. Middle East IMF. 2013;(October 2008):164–76.
- 21. Acaps-OCHA. Crisis overview [Internet]. 2017. p. 1–10. Available from: https://www.acaps.org/sites/acaps/files/products/files/20170621_acaps_start_briefing_note_bangladesh_landslides.pdf
- Ministry of Public Health & Population. National Health Strategy 2010-2015. 2010; Available from: http://www.nationalplanningcycles.org/sites/default/files/planning_cycle_repository /yemen/nat_health_strategy_-_yemen_eng.pdf
- 23. Ernest Massiah W, Engelke. Yemen: Immediate Priorities for Post-Conflict Recovery of the Health Sector. World bank; 2016. p. 10.
- 24. WHO. Yemen Health cluster Annual Report 2017. Sana'a; 2017.
- 25. Elgazzar HA. Raising returns : the distribution of health financing and outcomes in Yemen [Internet]. 2015. 1-72 p. Available from: http://wwwwds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2011/02/13/0003 33037_20110213233057/Rendered/PDF/596160WP01publ1omesinYemen01PUBLIC1 .pdf
- WHO. Health system in Yemen close to collapse. Bull World Health Organ [Internet].
 2015;93(10):670–1. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26600607%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.ni h.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC4645439
- 27. UNICEF. UNICEF Yemen What we do Nutrition [Internet]. Yemen overview. UNICEF GLOBAL SITE; 2017. Available from:

https://www.unicef.org/yemen/YEM_resources_hac2017.pdf

- 28. WHO. Situation report number 25 16 29 FEBRUARY 2016, Yemen conflict. WHO Reg Off East Mediterranean. 2016;(21):1–4.
- 29. WHO. WHO EMRO _ Health services decline as conflict in Yemen continues _ Yemen news _ Yemen [Internet]. Sana'a; 2017. Available from: http://www.emro.who.int/yem/yemen-news/health-services-decline-as-conflict-in-yemen-continues.html
- 30. WHO. Insecurity drives health workers out of Yemen [Internet]. Who. 2016. Available from: http://www.who.int/features/2016/yemen-health-insecurity/en/
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO | Diphtheria Yemen [Internet]. Who. 2017. Available from: http://www.who.int/csr/don/22-december-2017-diphtheriayemen/en/
- 32. Salah A, Hasan M, Sayyad MG. Current Health Care Condition in Yemen (Aden). 2018;6(1):18–21.
- 33. Aidah M, Mohanna B, Sana NA. Prevalence of diarrhoea and related risk factors among children aged under 5 years in Sana 'a , Prevalence of diarrhoea and related risk factors among. Vol. 92. 2017.
- 34. MOH. Family health survey Yemen 2003. Minstery of health Yemen; 2010. p. 106.
- El Bcheraoui C, Jumaan AO, Collison ML, Daoud F, Mokdad AH. Health in Yemen: losing ground in war time. Global Health [Internet]. 2018;14(1):42. Available from: https://globalizationandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12992-018-0354-9
- WHO World Health Organization U. Yemen: WHO and UNICEF estimates of immunization coverage : 2017 revision Yemen: WHO and UNICEF estimates of immunization coverage: 2017 revision [Internet]. WHO and UNICEF Yemen. 2019. p. 1–17. Available from: http://www.who.int/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/data/yem.pdf?ua=1
- 37. Sean Sanders TH. Addressing Global Health to Improve Malnutrition. In Washington, Science/AAAS; 2014.
- 38. WHO. Malnutrition-WHO fact sheet [Internet]. WHO NEWS. 2018. Available from: http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malnutrition
- 39. UNICEF. Malnutrition UNICEF DATA [Internet]. UNICEF, WHO and World Bank Group. 2017. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/topic/nutrition/malnutrition/
- 40. UNICEF. Improving child nutrition: The achievable imperative for global progress. Division of Communication, UNICEF. 2013. 1-132 p.
- 41. Jordan BeecherCorinna Hawkes, Endang Achad ZB. Global Nutrition Report: Nourishing the SDGs [Internet]. Bristol, UK; 2017. p. 115. Available from: http://globalnutritionreport.org/the-report/
- 42. Antonio WHO, Weise S. WHO Global Nutrition Target: Stunting Policy Brief. 2010;

- 43. Mercedes de Onis* MB and EB. Prevalence and trends of stunting among pre-school children, 1990–2020 [Internet]. 2010. Available from: http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf
- 44. WHO. WHO | Stunting in a nutshell [Internet]. Who. 2015. Available from: http://www.who.int/nutrition/healthygrowthproj_stunted_videos/en/
- 45. Danaei G, Andrews KG, Sudfeld CR, Fink G, McCoy DC, Peet E, et al. Risk Factors for Childhood Stunting in 137 Developing Countries: A Comparative Risk Assessment Analysis at Global, Regional, and Country Levels. PLoS Med. 2016;13(11):1–18.
- Hoddinott J, Behrman JR, Maluccio J, Melgar P, Quisumbing A, Ramirez-zea M, et al. Adult consequences of growth failure in early childhood. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98:1170–8.
- Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet. 2008;371(9609):340–57.
- Crookston BT, Penny ME, Alder SC, Dickerson TT, Merrill RM, Stanford JB, et al. Children Who Recover from Early Stunting and Children Who Are Not Stunted Demonstrate Similar Levels of Cognition [Internet]. Vol. 140, Journal of Nutrition. 2010. p. 1996–2001. Available from: http://jn.nutrition.org/cgi/doi/10.3945/jn.109.118927
- 49. Chen Y, Zhou LA. The long-term health and economic consequences of the 1959-1961 famine in China. Vol. 26, Journal of Health Economics. 2007. p. 659–81.
- Brenseke B, Prater MR, Bahamonde J, Gutierrez JC. Current Thoughts on Maternal Nutrition and Fetal Programming of the Metabolic Syndrome. J Pregnancy [Internet]. 2013;2013:1–13. Available from: http://www.hindawi.com/journals/jp/2013/368461/
- 51. El Taguri A, Besmar F, Abdel Monem A, Betilmal I, Ricour C, Rolland-Cachera MF. Stunting is a major risk factor for overweight: Results from national surveys in 5 Arab countries. East Mediterr Heal J. 2009;15(3):549–62.
- 52. Bhargava SK, Sachdev HS, Fall CHD, Osmond C, Lakshmy R, Barker DJP, et al. Relation of Serial Changes in Childhood Body-Mass Index to Impaired Glucose Tolerance in Young Adulthood. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2004;350(9):865–75. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/abs/10.1056/NEJMoa035698
- 53. Ranade SC, Rose A, Rao M, Gallego J, Gressens P, Mani AS. Different Types of Nutritional Deficiencies Affect Different Domains of Spatial Memory Function Checked in a Radial Arm Maze [Internet]. Available from: https://ac.elscdn.com/S030645220800016X/1-s2.0-S030645220800016X-main.pdf?_tid=6cdb6e5f-4a26-4321-be4e-230ec1c6fac7&acdnat=1527793196 f1f893da592576cbd4e9e4a98e331778
- 54. UNICEF and Ministry of Public Health and Population and Hodeida government health office. Nutrition and Mortality Survey in Hodeida Lowland Yemen 8 12 August 2015 [Internet]. Yemen Nutrition cluster website; 2015. Available from: https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/0B6U2uQdSJo2pYVZqU2tHdzBfTUE

- 55. Endalkachew AlamnewBelihu, Negesse NA. Emergency Food Security and Nutrition Assessment (Efsna) [Internet]. UNICEF, FAO, WFP; 2017. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/yemen_efsna_-_full_report_final_2016.pdf
- 56. Maharah A, Al A, Bayda A. Yemen Nutrition Cluster: GAM Rate Classification (as of February ; 2018). 2018;2018.
- 57. UNICEF. Malnutrition amongst children in Yemen at an all-time high, warns UNICEF.
 2016 [Internet]. 2016; Available from: https://www.unicef.org/media/media_93868.html
- 58. World Food Programme. Yemen Situation Report #36. 2017;(August 2017):1–2. Available from: http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/ep/wfp293069.pdf?_g a=2.225089426.981179358.1507288765-1554137730.1507288765
- 59. UNOCHA. Middle East and North Africa: Crises in Focus an overview of humanitarian needs in the region [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://gallery.mailchimp.com/8cf3bdfdba0a875ff6dd19093/files/MENA_HNO_Overv iew_ENGLISH_01.pdf
- 60. World food program. Comprehensive Food Security Survey. Sana'a; 2014.
- 61. Commission E. Country Profile on Nutrition, Yemen. 2017.
- 62. Robert E Black MD a Corresponding Author Email Address, Prof Cesar G Victora MD b, Prof Susan P Walker PhD c, Prof Zulfiqar A Bhutta PhD d *, Prof Parul Christian DrPH a *, Mercedes de Onis MD e *, Prof Majid Ezzati PhD f *, Prof Sally Grantham-McGregor FR PRU. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries The Lancet. Vol. 382, lancet. 2013.
- 63. Assabri AM, Cooper C, Al-gendari KA, Pfitzer A, Galloway R. The Power of Counseling: Changing Maternal, Infant, and Young Child Nutrition and Family Planning Practices in Dhamar, Yemen.
- 64. Stewart CP, Iannotti L, Dewey KG MK& OA. Childhood Stunting : Context, Causes, and Consequences. Matern Child Nutr. 2013;9(2):27–45.
- 65. Gernand AD, Schulze KJ, Stewart CP, West KP, Christian P. Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: Health effects and prevention. Vol. 12, Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2016. p. 274–89.
- 66. Imdad A, Bhutta ZA. Maternal Nutrition and Birth Outcomes\effect of Balanced Protein-Energy Supplementation, Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology [Internet].
 Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology. 2012. p. 178–90. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2012.01308.x/abstract
- 67. World Food Programme Nutrition Activities in Yemen. WFP. 2017;(June):2017.
- 68. Muftah S. Maternal under-nutrition and anaemia factors associated with low birth weight babies in Yemen. Int J Community Med Public Heal. 2016;3(10):2749–56.

- 69. Organization WH, others, ADIGBO K, de Souza L, Richards A, Schmitz J, et al. Stunting among children in Yemen: Prevalence and associated factors. Int J Pediatr [Internet]. 2015;173(5.1):921–32. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr029
- Prakash R, Singh A, Pathak PK, Parasuraman S, Branca F, Piwoz E, et al. Nutrition and health in women, children, and adolescent girls. BMJ [Internet].
 2015;351(November):h4173. Available from: http://jfprhc.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/jfprhc-2011-0080
- 71. Prakash R, Singh A, Pathak PK, Parasuraman S. Early marriage, poor reproductive health status of mother and child well-being in India [Internet]. Vol. 37, Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care. 2011. p. 136–45. Available from: http://jfprhc.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/jfprhc-2011-0080
- Dauby N, Goetghebuer T, Kollmann TR, Levy J, Marchant A. Uninfected but not unaffected: Chronic maternal infections during pregnancy, fetal immunity, and susceptibility to postnatal infections. Vol. 12, The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2012. p. 330–40.
- 73. WHO. WHO scales up response to humanitarian crisis in Yemen [Internet]. WHO EMRO. 2016. Available from: http://www.emro.who.int/yem/yemen-news/who-scales-up-response-for-increase-in-malaria-in-yemen.html
- 74. Albiti AH, Adam I, Ghouth AS. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene Placental malaria, anaemia and low birthweight in Yemen [Internet]. Vol. 104, Tropical Medicine. 2010. p. 191–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19716578
- 75. Bassiouny HK, Al-Maktari MT. Malaria in late pregnancy in Al Hodeidah governorate, Yemen. Vol. 11, Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal. 2008. p. 606–17.
- WHO World Health Organization. Nutrition. Feto-maternal nutrition and low birth weight. Http://WwwWhoInt/Nutrition/Topics/Feto_Maternal/En/ [Internet].
 2004;(2004). Available from: http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/lbw_strategy_background.pdf%0Ahttp://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/feto_maternal/en/
- 77. Bhutta MQZA. Low Birth Weight in Developing Countries. Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, The Aga Khan University; 2009.
- 78. World Health Organization. Feto-maternal nutrition and low birth weight [Internet]. 2014. p. 2. Available from: http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/feto_maternal/en/
- 79. Stewart CP, Iannotti L, Dewey KG, Michaelsen KF, Onyango AW. Contextualising complementary feeding in a broader framework for stunting prevention. Matern Child Nutr. 2013;9(S2):27–45.
- Han Z, Lutsiv O. Maternal height and the risk of preterm birth and low birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analyses. [Internet]. Journal of obstetrics and 2012. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22947405
- 81. Ozaltin E, Hill K, Subramanian S. Association of maternal stature with offspring mortality, under- weight, and stunting in low- to middle-income countries. Vol. 303,

JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association. 2010. p. 1507–16.

- Walker SP, Wachs TD, Meeks Gardner J, Lozoff B, Wasserman GA, Pollitt E, et al. Child development: risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries. Lancet. 2016;369(9556):145–57.
- 83. World Health Organisation. WHO | Maternal mental health [Internet]. Who. 2015. Available from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/maternalchild/maternal_mental_health/en/
- 84. Sanders D, Reynolds L. Ending stunting: Transforming the health system so children can thrive. Child Heal Guage. 2017;68–76.
- 85. A. I, M.Y. Y, Z.A. B. Impact of maternal education about complementary feeding and provision of complementary foods on child growth in developing countries [Internet]. Vol. 11 Suppl 3, BMC public health. 2011. p. S25. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed10&NEWS=N&A N=21501443
- 86. Al-Sobaihi S, Nakamura K, Kizuki M. Undernutrition among children under 5 years of age in Yemen: Role of adequate childcare provided by adults under conditions of food insecurity. J Rural Med JRM [Internet]. 2016;11(2):47–57. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27928456%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.ni h.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC5141376
- B7. De Souza LR. Correlates of child undernutrition in Yemen. Bandung J Glob South [Internet]. 2017;4(1):3. Available from: http://bandungjournal.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40728-017-0040-y
- Fikadu T, Assegid S, Dube L. Factors associated with stunting among children of age 24 to 59 months in Meskan district, Gurage Zone, South Ethiopia: A case-control study. Vol. 14, BMC Public Health. 2014.
- Bhutta ZA, Ahmed T, Black RE, Cousens S, Dewey K, Giugliani E, et al. What works? Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and survival. Lancet. 2008;371(9610):417–40.
- 90. Ertem IO. Developmental difficulties in early childhood: Prevention, early identification, assessment and intervention in low- and middle-income countries [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2012. 1-112 p. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/97942/1/9789241503549_eng.pdf?ua=1
- 91. Moges B, Temam L, Assefa B, Doyore F. Household Food Insecurity is the Main Correlate of Childhood Stunting in the Most Critical Period of Growth and Development in Silti Woreda ,. J Hum Nutr Food Sci. 2016;4(4):1–7.
- 92. Wiebelt M, Breisinger C, Ecker O, Al-Riffai P, Robertson R, Thiele R. Compounding food and income insecurity in Yemen: Challenges from climate change. Food Policy [Internet]. 2013;43:77–89. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2013.08.009
- 93. Robert E Black, Lindsay H Allen, Zulfiqar A Bhutta, Laura E Caulfield, Mercedes de Onis, Majid Ezzati, Colin Mathers, Juan Rivera, for the Maternal and Child

Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. [Internet]. 2008. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18207566

- 94. Kathyrn Dewey. Guiding Principles for Complementary Feeding of the Breastfed (PAHO and WHO). Pan Am Heal Organ World Heal Organ. 2003;18–25.
- 95. Rah J, Akhter N, Semba R, Pee S de, Bloem M, Campbell A, et al. "Low Dietary Diversity Is a Predictor of Child Stunting in Rural Bangladesh Low dietary diversity is a predictor of child stunting in rural Bangladesh [Internet]. Vol. 64, European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2010. p. 1393–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2010.171
- 96. Greiner R, Konietzny U JK-D. Phytate an undesirable constituent of plant based foods?.: J fur Ernahrungsmedizin. 2006;8(3):18–28.
- 97. Marquis GS, Habicht JP, Lanata CF, Black RE, Rasmussen KM. Breast milk or animalproduct foods improve linear growth of Peruvian toddlers consuming marginal diets. Vol. 66, American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1997. p. 1102–9.
- 98. Kramer MS, Kakuma R. Optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. Cochrane Database System Rev [Internet]. 2012;8(8):1–131. Available from: http://www.cochrane.org/CD003517/PREG_optimal-duration-of-exclusivebreastfeeding
- Saleh Abdullah Masood M, Professor A, Masood MS. Patterns of Feeding Indicators of Children in Sana'a City, Capital of Yemen. Enliven J Diet Res Nutr [Internet].
 2016;3(1):1–9. Available from: www.enlivenarchive.org
- Kembo LESAJPPCTMNNMKMG. The Potential Role of Mycotoxins as a Contributor to Stunting in the SHINE Trial S733.full. Vol. Volume 61, Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2015.
- 101. Kirk MD, Angulo FJ, Havelaar AH, Black RE. Diarrhoeal disease in children due to contaminated food. Vol. 95, Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2017. p. 233–4.
- 102. Simondon KB, Simondon F, Costes R, Delaunay V, Diallo A. Breast-feeding is associated with improved growth. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(5):959–67.
- 103. Engebretsen IMS, Jackson D, Fadnes LT, Nankabirwa V, Diallo AH, Doherty T, et al. Growth effects of exclusive breastfeeding promotion by peer counsellors in sub-Saharan Africa: The cluster-randomised PROMISE EBF trial. Vol. 14, BMC Public Health. 2014.
- Marquis GS, Habicht JP, Lanata CF, Black RE, Rasmussen KM. Association of breastfeeding and stunting in Peruvian toddlers: An example of reverse causality. Vol. 26, International Journal of Epidemiology. 1997. p. 349–56.
- 105. Prendergast AJ, Humphrey JH. The stunting syndrome in developing countries. Paediatric Int Child Health [Internet]. 2014 Nov 13;34(4):250–65. Available from: http://www.maneyonline.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1179/2046905514Y.0000000158

- 106. Schlaudecker EP, Steinhoff MC, Moore SR. Interactions of diarrhea, pneumonia, and malnutrition in childhood: Recent evidence from developing countries. Vol. 24, Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases. 2011. p. 496–502.
- 107. Guerrant RL, Oriá RB, Moore SR, Oriá MOB, Lima AAAM. Malnutrition as an enteric infectious disease with long-term effects on child development [Internet]. Vol. 66, Nutrition Reviews. 2008. p. 487–505. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-50249163771&doi=10.1111%2Fj.1753-4887.2008.00082.x&partnerID=40&md5=aab411a6d8f638e8043e52ab275a2a59
- 108. World Health Organization (WHO). Diarrhoeal Disease [Internet]. WHO Fact sheet; 2017. Available from: https://doi-org.libezproxy.open.ac.uk/10.1093/jamia/ocw085
- 109. Guerrant. RL. Moore SR., Scharf RJ., & Lima AA. DM. The impoverished gut--a triple burden of diarrhoea, stunting and chronic disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol [Internet]. Vol. Dec 11. Ap,. Epub (2012). 2013. p. 220–9. Available from: https://www.nature.com/nrgastro/journal/v10/n4/abs/nrgastro.2012.239.html
- 110. Sunil TS. Effects of socio-economic and behavioural factors on childhood malnutrition in Yemen. [Internet]. Vol. 5, Maternal & child nutrition. 2009. p. 251–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20572928
- 111. World Health Organization. World Health Statistics 2 0 0 9. World Heal Stat. 2009; 1:29.
- 112. Moschovis PP, Addo-Yobo EOD, Banajeh S, Chisaka N, Christiani DC, Hayden D, et al. Stunting is associated with poor outcomes in childhood pneumonia. Trop Med Int Heal [Internet]. 2015;20(10):1320–8. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/tmi.12557
- 113. Cooperation I. SOCIO-ECONOMIC Yemen' s Economy During War and Conflict. Ministry Plan Int Coop Econ Stud Forecasting Sect. 2018;34.
- Sharaf MF, Rashad AS. Regional inequalities in child malnutrition in Egypt, Jordan, and Yemen: A Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition analysis. Vol. 6, Health Economics Review. 2015.
- 115. Ministry of C, Family D. Early Childhood Development YEMEN. WORLD BANK. 2010;
- 116. Wachs TD. Mechanisms linking parental education and stunting. Vol. 371, The Lancet. 2008. p. 280–1.
- 117. Hammoudeh W, Halileh S, Hogan D. Determinants of stunting in children younger than 5 years between 2006 and 2010 in the occupied Palestinian territory: a crosssectional study. Lancet [Internet]. 2013;382:S16. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S014067361362588X
- 118. Richard D, De S, Martin W. Effect of parental formal education on risk of child stunting in ... Lancet. 2008;371(9609).
- 119. Muthanna A. A tragic educational experience: Academic injustice in higher education institutions in Yemen. Vol. 11, Policy Futures in Education. 2013. p. 532–7.

- 120. Sunil TS. Effects of socio-economic and behavioural factors on childhood malnutrition in Yemen. Matern Child Nutr. 2009;5(3):251–9.
- Negin J, Coffman J, Vizintin P, Raynes-Greenow C. The influence of grandmothers on breastfeeding rates: A systematic review. Vol. 16, BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2016.
- 122. Shukla A. Yemen: Community-centered Education and Resource Distribution to Combat Malnutrition. 2017.
- 123. Gillespie S, van den Bold M. Agriculture, Food Systems, and Nutrition: Meeting the Challenge [Internet]. Vol. 1, Global Challenges. 2017. p. 1600002. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/gch2.201600002
- 124. Priya B, Headey D, Kadiyala S. Agriculture, income, and nutrition linkages in India: insights from a nationally representative survey. IFPRI Discuss Pap [Internet]. 2012;31(28):1–31. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=cagh &AN=20123383998%5Cnhttp://lshtmsfx.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/lshtm?sid=OVID:c aghdb&id=pmid:&id=doi:&issn=&isbn=&volume=&issue=1195&spage=vi&pages=vi++ +31+pp&date=2012&title====&atitle
- 125. Miller BDD, Welch RM. Food system strategies for preventing micronutrient malnutrition. Food Policy [Internet]. 2013;42:115–28. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2013.06.008
- 126. Apodaca C. Preventing child malnutrition: Health and agriculture as determinants of child malnutrition. Vol. 14, Journal of Children and Poverty. 2008. p. 21–40.
- Ruel MT, Alderman H. Nutrition-sensitive interventions and programmes: How can they help to accelerate progress in improving maternal and child nutrition? Lancet [Internet]. 2013;382(9891):536–51. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60843-0
- 128. Report N, For A, Health P, Feeding YC. UNICEF Yemen Situation Report Reporting period: February 2012. 2012. p. 1–4.
- 129. Madan J. Exploring relationships between stunting and distance to health centres and commune capitals in Mali. 2014;87(December):2014. Available from: Tufts university
- 130. Ward JD. Health System. Reg Heal Syst Obs [Internet]. 2017; Available from: http://hrhconsortium.moh.gov.rw/about-rwanda/health-system/
- 131. Mbuya MNN, Humphrey JH. Preventing environmental enteric dysfunction through improved water, sanitation and hygiene: An opportunity for stunting reduction in developing countries. Vol. 12, Maternal and Child Nutrition. 2016. p. 106–20.
- 132. WaterAid. WASH and Nutrition | WASH Advocates [Internet]. 2015. Available from: http://www.washadvocates.org/learn/wash-facts/wash-and-nutrition/
- 133. UNICEF. UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office (EAPRO) Bangkok, Thailand Guide for Practical Joint Actions Nutrition -WASH Toolkit [Internet]. 2016. Available from:

https://www.unicef.org/eapro/WASH_Nutrition_Toolkit_EAPRO_Final_w_ISBN_web_version_7Nov2016.pdf

- 134. Lin A, Arnold BF, Afreen S, Goto R, Huda TMN, Haque R, et al. Household environmental conditions are associated with enteropathy and impaired growth in rural Bangladesh. Vol. 89, American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2013. p. 130–7.
- 135. UNICEF. Situation Analysis of Children in Yemen 2014 Situation Analysis of. New York. 2014;154.
- 136. Scoble R. Christopher Ward: The Water Crisis in Yemen: Managing Extreme Water Scarcity in the Middle East [Internet]. Vol. 44, Human Ecology. 2016. p. 513–4. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10745-016-9838-5
- 137. Kennedy J, Harmer A, McCoy D. The political determinants of the cholera outbreak in Yemen. Vol. 5, The Lancet Global Health. 2017. p. e970–1.
- 138. Burki T. Yemen health situation "moving from a crisis to a disaster." Vol. 385, The Lancet. 2015. p. 1609.
- 139. Ministry of public Health and Population Primary Health Care. National Nutrition Strategy for Yemen (Draft). 2009;3–49.
- 140. Commission E. Country Profile on Nutrition, Yemen. EUROPEAN COMISSION; 2017.
- 141. Saja Abdullah, Rasha Al Ardi RS. Yemen -case study Scaling up nutrition services and maintaining service during conflict in Yemen. ENN; 2015.
- 142. SUN. Yemen scaling up nutrition movement progress [Internet]. SUN web page. 2018. Available from: http://scalingupnutrition.org/sun-countries/yemen/
- 143. Ziolkovska A. Yemen Nutrition Cluster_ Integrated famine-prevention package _ ENN. field exchange. ENN,Global nutrition cluster ,Unicef; 2017.
- 144. Bhutta ZA, Das, Jai KRizvi, ArjumandGaffey, Michelle FWalker NH. Evidence based interventions for improvement of maternal and child health nutrition what can be done and at what cost. Vol. 382, The lancet. 2013.
- Bachmann MO. Cost–effectiveness of community-based treatment of severe acute malnutrition in children. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res [Internet].
 2010;10(5):605–12. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1586/erp.10.54
- 146. UNICEF. Yemen Ministry of Public Health and Population Primary Health Care Sector Nutrition Department Interim Guidelines for Community-based Management of (Severe & amp; Moderate) Acute Malnutrition. 2013; Available from: https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/system/files/documents/files/final_yemen_ cmam_guidelines_-_feb_2014.pdf
- 147. Ziolkovska A. Yemen Nutriion Cluster Bulleen. 2017;(2):9. Available from: https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/files /documents/files/2017_nc_bulletin_yemen_issue_2_1.pdf

- 148. Anna Ziolkovska NA. Experiences of implementing CMAM in Yemen and number of deaths averted _ ENN. Field exchange; 2018.
- 149. Bhutta ZA, Das JK, Rizvi A, Gaffey MF, Walker N, Horton S, et al. Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition: What can be done and at what cost? Lancet. 2013;382(9890):452–77.
- 150. World Food Programme. WFP Yemen Country Brief. 2017.
- 151. UNICEF. UNICEF Yemen What we do Nutrition [Internet]. Yemen overview. 2017. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/yemen/YEM_resources_hac2017.pdf
- 152. GINA. Global database on the Implementation of Nutrition Action, National nutrition strategy Yemen. 2015;(October):1–9.
- 153. UNICEF. Yemen UNICEF Annual Report 2016. 2017.
- 154. Corodinator N cluster. Terms of Reference Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) Technical Working Group. 2015.
- 155. Al-Deram, Arwa HK. The Feeding and Caring Practices of Under Two Years Children, Pregnant Women and Lactating Mothers in Four Districts of Yemen. SOUL and UNICEF; 2015.
- 156. Armstrong Schellenberg JR, Adam T, Mshinda H, Masanja H, Kabadi G, Mukasa O, et al. Effectiveness and cost of facility-based integrated management of childhood illness (IMCI) in Tanzania (Structured abstract) [Internet]. Lancet. 2004. p. 1583–94. Available from: http://www.mrw.interscience.wiley.com/cochrane/cleed/articles/NHSEED-22004008390/frame.html
- 157. Basaleem HO, Amin RM. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness in Lahej, Yemen: a qualitative analysis from the perspective of health providers. East Med Heal J. 2008;17(2):101–8.
- Basaleem HO, Amin RM. Qualitative study on the community perception of the integrated management of childhood illness (IMCI) implementation in Lahej, Yemen. Vol. 9, Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal. 2009. p. 42–52.
- 159. Jones AD, Ejeta G. A new global agenda for nutrition and health: the importance of agriculture and food systems. Vol. 94, World Health Organization. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2016. p. 228–9.
- 160. Bhutta Zulfiqar A. et al. What Works? Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and surviva. Vol. 371, Lancet. 2008. p. 417–440.
- 161. Prendergast AJ, Humphrey JH. Stunting Persists despite Optimal Feeding: Are Toilets Part of the Solution? In: Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series. 2015. p. 99–110.
- 162. WASH Cluster Yemen. Yemen WASH Cluster Response Update. 2017.
- 163. Food and Agriculuture orgnaization, European union M. YEMEN FOOD SECURITY UPDATE September 2017 ALMOST THREE QUARTERS OF YEMEN POPULATION FACE STARVATION AS FOOD SECURITY CONTINUES TO WORSEN. 2017.

- 164. Robert E Black HAABG. Executive Summary of The Lancet Maternal and Child Nutrition Series. Lancet. 2013;5(1):1–11.
- 165. Ruel M, Alderman H. Nutrition-sensitive interventions and programs: How can they help accelerate progress in improving maternal and child nutrition? [Internet]. Vol. 382, The Lancet. 2013. p. 536–51. Available from: http://imp-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/openurl/44IMP/44IMP_services_page?sid=OVID&isb n=&issn=0250-6807&volume=63&issue=1&date=2013&title=Annals+of+Nutrition+and+Metabolism &atitle=Nutrition-sensitive+interventions+and+programs:+How+can+they+help+accel
- 166. Azaki A. Social Protection and Safety Nets in Yemen. 2015;(December). Available from: https://www.ids.ac.uk/files/dmfile/SocialprotectionandsafetynetsinYemen.pdf
- 167. WHO 2018. Reducing Stunting in children, equity considerations for achieving the Global Nutrition Targets 2025. Geneva: WHO; 2018.
- Lechtig A, Cornale G, Ugaz ME, Arias L. Decreasing stunting, anaemia, and vitamin A deficiency in Peru: Results of the good start in life program. Food Nutr Bull. 2009;30(1):37–48.
- Mohamed AJ, Onyango AW, de Onis M, Prakash N, Mabry RM, Alasfoor DH.
 Socioeconomic predictors of unconstrained child growth in Muscat, Oman. East Mediterr Heal J. 2004;10(3):295–302.
- 170. Hamade H, Chaaya M, Saliba M, Chaaban R, Osman H. Determinants of exclusive breastfeeding in an urban population of primiparas in Lebanon: A cross-sectional study. Vol. 13, BMC Public Health. 2013.
- 171. Alyousefi NA, Alharbi AA, Almugheerah BA, Alajmi NA, Alaiyashi SM, Alharbi SS, et al. Factors Influencing Saudi Mothers' Success in Exclusive Breastfeeding for the First Six Months of Infant Life: A Cross-Sectional Observational Study. Int J Med Res Heal Sci [Internet]. 2017;6(2):68–78. Available from: http://www.ijmrhs.com/medicalresearch/factors-influencing-saudi-mothers-success-in-exclusive-breastfeeding-forthe-first-six-months-of-infant-life-a-crosssect.pdf
- 172. Nassar MF, Abdel-Kader AM, Al-Refaee FA, Mohammad YA, Al Dhafiri S, Gabr S, et al. Breastfeeding practice in Kuwait: determinants of success and reasons for failure. East Mediterr Heal J. 2014;20(7):409–15.
- 173. Nasreddine L, Zeidan MN, Naja F, Hwalla N. Complementary feeding in the MENA region: practices and challenges. [Internet]. Vol. 22, Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD. 2012. p. 793–8. Available from: http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=medl&NEWS=N&AN= 22809855
- 174. Ali D, Saha KK, Nguyen PH, Diressie MT, Ruel MT, Menon P, et al. Household Food Insecurity Is Associated with Higher Child Undernutrition in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, and Vietnam, but the Effect Is Not Mediated by Child Dietary Diversity. J Nutr [Internet]. 2013;143(12):2015–21. Available from: http://jn.nutrition.org/cgi/doi/10.3945/jn.113.175182

- 175. Kaye DK, Mirembe F, Bantebya G, Johansson A, Ekstrom AM. Reasons, methods used and decision-making for pregnancy termination among adolescents and older women in Mulago Hospital, Uganda. East Afr Med J [Internet]. 2005 Nov;82(11):579–85. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16463752
- 176. Higgins-Steele A, Mustaphi P, Varkey S, Ludin H, Safi N, Bhutta ZA. Stop stunting: Situation and way forward to improve maternal, child and adolescent nutrition in Afghanistan. Vol. 12, Maternal and Child Nutrition. 2016. p. 237–41.
- 177. Teshome B, Kogi-Makau W, Getahun Z, Taye G. Magnitude and determinants of stunting in children under five years of age in food surplus region of Ethiopia: The case of West Gojam Zone. Ethiop J Heal Dev [Internet]. 2010;23(2). Available from: http://www.ajol.info/index.php/ejhd/article/view/53223
- 178. Arifeen SE, Hoque DM, Akter T, Rahman M, Hoque ME, Begum K, et al. Effect of the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness strategy on childhood mortality and nutrition in a rural area in Bangladesh: a cluster randomised trial [Internet]. Vol. 374, Lancet. 2009. p. 393–403. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=C itation&list_uids=19647607
- 179. World hunger again on the rise, driven by conflict and climate change, new UN report says _ Press centre _ UNICEF.
- 180. Humphrey JH. Child undernutrition, tropical enteropathy, toilets, and handwashing. Lancet [Internet]. 2009;374(9694):1032–5. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60950-8
- 181. Schmidt CW. Beyond malnutrition: The role of sanitation in stunted growth. Vol. 122, Environmental Health Perspectives. 2014. p. A298–303.
- Bentley MSPGLACSM. Shroff M et al., Maternal autonomy is inversely related to child stunting in Andhra Pradesh, India, Maternal and Child Nutrition, 2009, 5(1):64–74. Vol. 5, Wiley Online Library. 2009.

Annexes

Annex one :Shows the types and Numbers of the public H. facilities during the years 1992,2001,2007,2008



Source (National health strategy Yemen 2013)

Annex two: Cut-off values for public health significance

Indicator	Prevalence cut-off values for public health significance
Underweight	< 10%: Low prevalence 10-19%: Medium prevalence 20-29%: High prevalence ≥ 30%: Very high prevalence
Stunting	< 20%: Low prevalence 20-29%: Medium prevalence 30-39%: High prevalence ≥ 40%: Very high prevalence
Wasting	< 5%: Acceptable 5-9%: Poor 10-14%: Serious ≥ 15%: Critical

Source (WHO2010)

Annex Three: Children U5 Nutrition Status, by group of age and by Governorate in Yemen

	GAM		Global Stunting		Global Underweight		Total
Governorates	6-23 Months	24-59 Months	6-23 Months	24-59 Months	6-23 Months	24-59 Months	N
Abyan	20,4%	14,4%	24,8%	39,7%	27,9%	36,1%	455
Aden	19,5%	11,3%	22,8%	28,3%	26,6%	29,8%	473
Al Dale'e	14,9%	8,9%	32,5%	52,1%	24,7%	35,6%	465
Al Baidha	8,1%	6,4%	40,1%	47,5%	22,2%	26,8%	455
Al Jawf	15,3%	9,0%	38,3%	46,2%	33,1%	34,7%	410
Al Mahweet	16,0%	10,1%	57,8%	66,2%	42,0%	40,3%	486
Amran	6,7%	5,3%	46,4%	64,1%	27,9%	36,4%	516
Dhamar	8,2%	9,4%	56,9%	64,4%	32,5%	41,5%	490
Hadhramout	13,8%	23,8%	9,6%	10,4%	17,0%	15,2%	429
Hajjah	14,3%	9,7%	64,0%	62,2%	44,8%	43,1%	512
Hodeidah	40,3%	17,5%	61,1%	54,1%	63,5%	52,2%	440
Ibb	10,5%	6,6%	42,4%	58,6%	25,5%	37,4%	415
Lahj	12,7%	12,3%	41,3%	43,3%	31,6%	38,4%	419
Mareb	12,7%	5,7%	33,1%	38,3%	23,5%	27,5%	482
Raymah	11,2%	5,3%	61,2%	70,2%	40,9%	44,9%	435
Sana'a	5,8%	5,5%	49,2%	58,7%	31,1%	34,0%	446
Sanaa City	6,3%	6,1%	29,5%	36,7%	17,6%	23,0%	375
Shabwa	17,2%	8,9%	26,7%	31,7%	20,3%	27,1%	533

Source (EFSNA Yemen 2017)

Annex four: IYCF indicators on breastfeeding status in under two children Yemen



Source DHS 2013